## **Distribution Agreement**

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

James William Schroeder

Date

# Associations Between Perinatal Exposures and Neonatal DNA Methylation

By

James William Schroeder Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences Genetics and Molecular Biology

Joseph Cubells, M.D., Ph.D. Advisor Alicia Smith, Ph.D. Advisor

Karen Connelly, Ph.D.

**Committee Member** 

Patricia Brennan, Ph.D. Committee Member

Paula Vertino, Ph.D. Committee Member Steve Warren, Ph.D. Committee Member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

Date

# Associations Between Perinatal Exposures and Neonatal DNA Methylation

By

James William Schroeder

M.A., Texas A&M University, 2005

Advisors: Joseph Cubells, M.D., Ph.D.

Alicia Smith, Ph.D.

An abstract of A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences Genetics and Molecular Biology

2011

#### Abstract

#### Associations Between Perinatal Exposures and Neonatal DNA Methylation

By James William Schroeder

Several perinatal exposures have been linked with adverse health outcomes later in life. Fetal exposure to maternal depression, symptoms and treatment are associated with low birth weight, fetal cardiac defects, and impaired cognitive and emotional development. Likewise, gestational age, often in the form of preterm delivery, is associated with an increased rate of neonatal mortality and development of cerebral palsy, cognitive and behavioral issues. In this study, we examined whether there was an association between these perinatal exposures and differential methylation in >27,000 CpG loci in umbilical cord blood DNA of neonates born to mothers participating in a prospectivelycharacterized psychiatric cohort. Contrary to previous reports, we found no associations between neonatal DNA methylation and any psychiatric diagnosis or depressive symptom measures taken during pregnancy. However, maternal exposure to any antidepressant during pregnancy was associated with differential methylation at TNFRSF21 and CHRNA2, though these findings were not associated with individual antidepressant classes. Gestational age was associated with differential methylation at 41 CpG loci in 39 genes, including genes previously implicated in labor and delivery (e.g., AVP, CRHBP and ESR1) or that may influence the risk for adverse health outcomes later in life (e.g. DUOX2, TMEM176A and CASP8). Twenty-six of these loci in 25 genes were then successfully replicated in an independent, non-psychiatric cohort. These combined findings will play an important role both in characterizing the epigenetic dynamics contributing to labor and delivery and in assessing potential impacts of these perinatal exposures on later-life health conditions.

# Associations Between Perinatal Exposures and Neonatal DNA Methylation

By

James William Schroeder

M.A., Texas A&M University, 2005

Advisors: Joseph Cubells, M.D., Ph.D.

Alicia Smith, Ph.D.

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences Genetics and Molecular Biology

2011

# Table of Contents

Chapter 1: General Introduction	1
Epigenetics and DNA Methylation	2
Epigenetic Mechanisms During Fetal Development	4
Early-Life Impacts on Phenotypes in Later Life	6
Exposure to Maternal Mental Illness and Neonatal Health	7
Neonatal Risks of Antidepressant Exposure	8
Gestational Age and Health Outcomes	9
Animal Studies	10
Human Studies	13
Epigenetic Patterns Vary by Cell Type	14
Study Objective	15
References	20
Chapter 2: Technical Methodologies	26
Genome-wide Studies of Sequence Variation and DNA Methylation	27
Laboratory Approaches to Genomic-scale Analysis of DNA Methylation	28
Overview of the Infinium Protocol	30
Sample Preparation	31
Array Processing	31
Chip and Experiment Effects	33
HumanMethylation27 Probe Issues	35

Statistical Analysis	38
References	46

Chapter 3: DNA Methylation of Neonates Born to Women Receiving	49
Psychiatric Care	
Introduction	50
Methods	51
Results	54
Discussion	56
References	62

Chapter 4: Neonatal DNA Methylation Patterns Associate with	65
Gestational Age	
Introduction	66
Methods	67
Results	71
Discussion	72
References	83

Chapter 5: Summary and Conclusions	86
------------------------------------	----

# Figures and Tables

Chapter 1: General Introduction	
Figure 1-1: Representative Model of Epigenetic Modifications	18
of Histone and DNA	
Figure 1-2: Conversion of Cytosine to 5-Methyl Cytosine	19
Chapter 2: Technical Methodologies	
Table 2-1: Prevalence of SNPs Under the HumanMethylation27 Probes	39
or at the Single Base Extension Nucleotide	
Table 2-2: Prevalence of Flanking CpG Dinucleotides Under the	40
HumanMethylation27 Probes or at the Single Base	
Extension Nucleotide	
Figure 2-1: Model Depicting the HumanMethylation27 BeadChip	41
Extension Reaction	
Figure 2-2: Bisulfite Conversion of Cytosine to Uracil	42
Figure 2-3: Chip Effects Shown by Average Sample Intensity	43
By BeadChip	
Figure 2-4: Representative HumanMethylation27 Probe with	44
Mismatched Nucleotides	
Figure 2-5: Scatterplots of Methylated vs. Unmethylated Signals	45

Chapter 3: DNA Methylation of Neonates Born to Women Receiving	
Psychiatric Care	
Table 3-1: Demographic and Clinical Characteristics of	59
the WMHP Subjects	
Figure 3-1: Methylation of Significant CpG Sites	61
Chapter 4: Neonatal DNA Methylation Patterns Associate with Gestational Age	
Table 4-1: Demographic and Clinical Characteristics of the Discovery	76
and Replication Cohorts	
Table 4-2: CpG Sites Reaching Experiment-wide Significance in the	77
Discovery Cohort Compared to the Replication Cohort Results	
Table 4-3: Co-occuring Gene Ontology Results for the 41	79
Experiment-wide Significant Genes in the Discovery Cohort	
Figure 4-1: Scatterplots of Representative CpG Sites Associated with GA	80
with Regression Lines	
Figure 4-2: Heat Map of Beta Values from Subjects with the Lowest	81
and Highest Gestational Ages from the Discovery Cohort	
Figure 4-3: Samples in the Discovery Cohort that Used LMP to	82
Determine GA do not Significantly Differ From Those	
Based on Obstetrician Report	

Chapter 1

**General Introduction** 

#### **Epigenetics and DNA Methylation**

Despite containing equivalent genomes, somatic cells differentiate to perform a variety of functions in response to stimuli by regulating the timing and magnitude of gene expression necessary for a multicellular organism to function. Epigenetic mechanisms are a broad category of molecular interactions that are potentially heritable (via mitosis, meiosis, or both) and contribute to the regulation of these dynamic phenomena by influencing gene expression without altering DNA sequence.

Genomic DNA interacts closely with a heterogeneous group of packaging proteins known as histones, which form an octamer wrapped by DNA creating the core particle of a nucleosome (Figure 1-1). Epigenetic mechanisms utilize this nucleosome structure by facilitating the covalent addition of signaling molecules such as acetyl, methyl, and phosphate groups to specific amino acids on the N-terminal tails of histone proteins. These epigenetic signals form a specified "histone code" that participates in gene regulation through a dynamic process of protein recruitment.<sup>1</sup> Histone modifications can also influence gene regulation by constricting or relaxing regional chromatin states, which alters the ability of regulatory proteins to bind corresponding DNA elements.<sup>2</sup>

DNA methylation is an epigenetic mechanism that covalently modifies DNA via addition or removal of a methyl group at the 5' position of the pyrimidine ring of cytosines within CpG dinucleotides (Figure 1-2). DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs), such as DNMT1, DNMT3a, and DNMT3b, catalyze these methylation reactions (Figure 1-1). CpG methylation marks both strands of DNA, with one methyl group added or removed from each cytosine of the complementary strands. This symmetrical marking provides a signal for propagation of the methylation event to newly synthesized DNA strands by maintenance methyltransferases during the semi-conservative replication of DNA. Recent studies have also found that TET1, TET2 and TET3 convert 5- methylcytosine to 5-hydroxymethylcytosine (Figure 1-1).<sup>3,4</sup> This process has been shown to participate in the regulation of DNA methylation during embryonic development<sup>4-6</sup>, though the full role of this novel modification is still being characterized.

In more than half of all genes, CpG dinucleotides cluster into regions called CpG islands near the promoter region.<sup>7</sup> A CpG island is often defined as a region of DNA containing 200 or more base pairs where the ratio of observed to expected CpG dinucleotides is greater than 60%.<sup>8</sup> CpG islands generally associate with expression of the gene when hypomethylated and repression of the gene when hypermethylated.<sup>9-11</sup>

Methylation of cytosines regulates gene expression by influencing the recruitment and binding of regulatory proteins to DNA.<sup>12</sup> For example, methyl-CpG-binding protein 2 (MeCP2) binds specifically to methylated CpGs<sup>13</sup>, and methylation can directly block the binding of transcription factors.<sup>14,15</sup> DNA methylation also acts in concert with other epigenetic mechanisms such as histone modifications to regulate access of the transcriptional machinery to the DNA. Heterochromatin formation at *Oct3/4*, for example, is facilitated through a complex that contains the histone methyltransferase G9a, which recruits Dnmt3A and Dnmt3B increasing local DNA hypermethylation.<sup>16</sup> Histone modifying enzymes such as the histone deacetylaces HDAC1 and HDAC2, as well as histone methyltransferase proteins such as SUV39, also interact with DNMT1.<sup>17-</sup> <sup>19</sup> Likewise, MeCP2 influences DNA methylation status with histone methylation via interactions with SUV39.<sup>20</sup>

#### **Epigenetic Mechanisms During Fetal Development**

In mammals, DNA methylation plays essential roles during pre- and post-natal developmental processes. One of these processes is genomic imprinting in which the expression of certain alleles is affected by the parent that contributed those alleles through the alleles' methylation pattern.<sup>21</sup> In germ cells, these methylation patterns are removed and reprogrammed in accordance with the sex of the developing fetus.<sup>21</sup> DNA methylation also plays a major role in the establishment of gene dosage compensation by inducing a heterochromatic repression of gene expression on one of the X chromosomes in female cells.<sup>22</sup> Processes that affect genomic stability, such as repression of repetitive DNA elements<sup>23,24</sup> and maintenance of centromeric sequences and chromosomal condensation, are also influenced by DNA methylation.<sup>25,26</sup> As these processes demonstrate, early prenatal development is a crucial window for the establishment of long-term patterns of DNA methylation. Interruption of epigenetic programming during this critical period could have negative repercussions on post-natal outcomes.

Numerous animal studies have demonstrated that exposure of the fetus to differing *in utero* conditions can alter DNA methylation, which in turn can mediate variation in adult phenotype. A well-known example of such an epigenetically-mediated alteration of an adult outcome by differences in prenatal exposures is the Agouti mouse. In this instance, mice bred from fathers heterozygous for the yellow coat Agouti pigment  $(A^{\nu y}/a)$  and black-coated (a/a) mothers display an increase in darker coat pigmentation upon supplementation of the maternal diet with methyl donors and cofactors such as zinc during pregnancy.<sup>27</sup> This phenomenon results from a methyl-donor facilitated increase in CpG methylation at a transposable element associated with the  $A^{\nu y}$  locus.<sup>28</sup> Enhanced

CpG methylation and heterochromatinization at that element attenuates expression of the  $A^{\nu y}$  gene, leading to increasing expression of the dark pigment over that of the yellow pigment.

Several other examples of prenatal maternal nutritional differences leading to epigenetically-mediated alterations in postnatal offspring phenotypes have been described. For example, there are aberrant patterns of *Dnmt1* regulation as well as the methyl-sensitive DNA-binding protein MeCP2 in macaques born to mothers with a highfat diet.<sup>29</sup> Similarly, a study of pregnant mice exposed to 48 hours of hypoxic conditions bore offspring that displayed altered expression of *Dnmt3b* and another methyl-sensitive DNA-binding protein Mbd1.<sup>30</sup> Low levels of the insecticide

dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT) in young rats reduced DNA methylation levels and expression of genes involved in stress responses and DNA methylation maintenance, leading to speculation that these effects are a general reaction to oxidative stress.<sup>31</sup> Such widespread alterations in genes involved in the genome-wide maintenance and reading of DNA methylation patterns could lead to broad patterns of postnatal epigenetic dysregulation affecting many genes.

Genome-wide differential methylation has also been associated with uteroplacental insufficiency<sup>32</sup>, malnutrition<sup>33</sup>, and environmental toxins<sup>34-36</sup>. One study also reported intergenerational phenotypic effects of maternal exposure to environmental toxins, associated with altered DNA methylation in offspring.<sup>37</sup> In this study, the authors describe the co-occurrence of male infertility and differential DNA methylation patterns in genes known to influence the phenotype, which persist across multiple generations of rats derived from a pregnant rat exposed to the endocrine disrupter vinclozolin. These findings did not replicate in a subsequent study<sup>38</sup>, although authors of the original study argue that this is likely due to the use of a more inbred CD-Sprague Dawley (Charles River) rat line in the follow-up study, which is less responsive to the effect than the outbred Harlan Sprague Dawley strain used in the original study.<sup>39</sup> These reports, which seek to relate adverse postnatal outcomes with differential methylation of genes, exemplify studies that can elucidate epigenetic mechanisms capable of altering postnatal phenotypes in response to prenatal exposures.

Associations between perinatal exposures and differential histone modifications in offspring have also been reported. For example, aberrant histone modifications associate with malnutrition<sup>40,41</sup>, cloning and *in vitro* fertilization.<sup>42</sup> However, while some suggestive evidence exists<sup>42</sup>, an association between perinatal stressors and differential histone modifications in combination with differential DNA methylation has yet to be established, though it remains a potential mechanism for inducing long-term changes that requires thorough investigation.

## Early-Life Impacts on Phenotypes in Later Life

Based on the observation that low birth weight associates with a higher risk for chronic adult conditions such as stroke, type II diabetes, heart disease, and hypertension, David Barker proposed that prenatal malnutrition or other factors leading to low birth weight predispose the fetus to be at greater risk for these later-life conditions.<sup>43,44</sup> Barker's developmental origin of adult health and disease (DOHaD) hypothesis has motivated a plethora of studies that have identified prenatal factors that associate with differences in post-natal health outcomes such as overfeeding<sup>45</sup>, preterm birth<sup>46,47</sup>, delayed fetal growth<sup>48,49</sup>, and *in vitro* fertilization.<sup>50</sup>

Among the more famous examinations of the DOHaD hypothesis is the ongoing study of offspring born to women who were pregnant during the "Dutch Hunger Winter" (reviewed in 51). These mothers were undernourished during a well-circumscribed period from 1944-45, when the Nazi occupiers of the Western Netherlands retracted food supplies to the entire population of the region. The Dutch Hunger Winter offspring, who are now well into their seventh decade of life, exhibit elevated rates of coronary heart disease, an accelerated rate of decline in cognitive functions over time, and impaired glucose tolerance.<sup>52-54</sup> The Dutch Hunger Winter data, together with other evidence, suggests that *in utero* malnutrition leads to elevated risk for chronic metabolic disorders that overfeeding during adulthood further exacerbates. These effects could be mediated, in part, by epigenetic mechanisms such as DNA methylation.

#### **Exposure to Maternal Mental Illness and Neonatal Health**

The first potential predictor of methylation in umbilical cord blood DNA that we examined was maternal depressive diagnosis and symptoms. Maternal depressive symptoms can persist throughout pregnancy and pose a potential threat to the developing fetus with depressed women being more likely to deliver prematurely or to deliver growth-restricted neonates.<sup>55,56</sup> The children of mothers depressed during pregnancy score lower on the Neonatal Behavioral Assessment Scale (NBAS)<sup>57,58</sup> and show reduced mental, motor and emotional development as infants.<sup>59,60</sup> Over time, the children of

depressed mothers are at higher risk of developing depression<sup>61</sup>, violent behavior<sup>62</sup> and anxiety.<sup>63</sup>

It is interesting to note that levels of maternally-derived cortisol, a hormone correlated with depressive and other stress-related symptoms, associates with neonatal temperament.<sup>64</sup> Maternal cortisol crosses the placenta and enters the fetal bloodstream<sup>65</sup>, suggesting the hormone could mediate effects of maternal depressive symptoms on adverse neonatal outcomes, possibly by influencing DNA methylation events during fetal development. In this study we hypothesized that maternal depressive diagnosis and symptoms will influence neonatal DNA methylation, a potential mediator of these later effects, though we will not here be examining associations with neonatal or maternal cortisol.

#### **Neonatal Risks of Antidepressant Exposure**

During pregnancy many women with psychiatric disorders take psychotropic medications, another potential predictor of neonatal DNA methylation patterns.<sup>66</sup> Depressed women that discontinue medication during pregnancy are at high risk for relapse of depressive symptoms<sup>67</sup>, so there is a substantial *a priori* motivation for women to maintain treatment with antidepressants throughout pregnancy. Given the difficult choice between continuing antidepressant treatment throughout pregnancy and discontinuing medication given a possible relapse of depressive symptoms, it is unclear which option poses the greater risk, if any, to the developing fetus.<sup>68</sup> Several antidepressants and their metabolites cross the placenta and can be detected in umbilical cord blood at birth.<sup>69</sup> Reports describing the effects of *in utero* antidepressant exposure

on the developing fetus have been mixed; some studies conclude that there is little to no significant risk linked to antidepressant exposure,<sup>70</sup> and others suggest antidepressant exposure increases risks of adverse outcomes such as fetal cardiac defects, <sup>71</sup> attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD)<sup>72</sup> and impaired motor development.<sup>73,74</sup>

A major difficulty confounding interpretation of the results of *in utero* effects of antidepressants in humans is that women taking such medications do so to alleviate symptoms. Due to the absence (for obvious ethical reasons) of studies where pregnant women are randomly assigning to antidepressants or a placebo in a double-blind manner, it is very difficult to distinguish the effects of maternal illness (or symptom severity) on human offspring from those of medication exposure. While studies in animal models are an obvious alternative, conclusions from such studies can themselves be confounded by factors such as inter-species differences in nutritional needs, the lack of clearly defined animal models of maternal depression, as well as by the uniquely-human features of certain post-natal outcomes (e.g., language development). Thus, despite several important limitations, studies of the impact of prenatal medication exposures on postnatal outcomes remain important, and differential DNA methylation may be a mediator of these impacts.

#### **Gestational Age and Health Outcomes**

Another potential predictor of differential neonatal DNA methylation patterns is gestational age. Several previous studies have shown an association between age and DNA methylation patterns, though no studies yet exist examining the relationship between DNA methylation in a genome wide set of CpGs and gestational age.<sup>75-78</sup>

Term deliveries are defined as occurring after 37 weeks gestational age (GA) from the mothers last menstrual period (LMP), and although the majority of deliveries in the United States are term (37-42 weeks), nearly one in eight are preterm. GA is also closely related to birth weight, although they are not collinear, and birth weight can reflect a variety of factors other than GA.<sup>79</sup> There is a consistent trend of association of preterm delivery with significantly higher rates of neonatal morbidity and mortality<sup>80</sup> with children born preterm showing increased risk for cerebral palsy<sup>81</sup>, behavioral, emotional and cognitive disorders<sup>82,83</sup>, and other neurodevelopmental issues<sup>84</sup>, though the risks are increased with extreme preterm births.<sup>85</sup> Likewise, neonates born postterm (>41 weeks) associate with an increased risk for cerebral palsy<sup>86</sup>, epilepsy<sup>87</sup>, and mortality<sup>88</sup> than term births. Even within the period defined as "normal" term (37-41 weeks), there is a similar trend of increased risk for adverse neonatal outcomes, particularly respiratory complications, associated with declining gestational age.<sup>89,90</sup> There is, for example, a higher rate of morbidity and mortality during the first year of life for neonates born at 37 or 38 weeks compared to those delivered at 40 weeks.<sup>91</sup> These GA-associated effects might be mediated, in part, by DNA methylation, though, as previously stated, the association between DNA methylation and GA has yet to be adequately studied. The following sections will review the extant literature on associations between differential DNA methylation and early life exposures.

#### **Animal Studies**

Several studies have reported an association between prenatal stress exposures or early life stress (ELS) and changes in DNA methylation in specific candidate genes (reviewed in 92). These reports, which include both animal and human studies, also support the importance of epigenetic mechanisms as mediators of long-term outcomes associated with perinatal stress and, in particular, emphasize regulated methylation of specific CpG loci as a vital molecular mediator of later-life effects.

The first postnatal week to 10 days of a newborn rat pup is in many ways developmentally equivalent to the third trimester of a human fetus.<sup>93</sup> Researchers using rat models to study the effects of perinatal stress on offspring have taken advantage of this connection by exposing newborn pups to controlled, stress-inducing environments in order to gain insights into the potential impact of prenatal stress on human fetuses. Much of the early work on the association between ELS and DNA methylation was performed in rats and published in a series of reports beginning with a study by Weaver and colleagues.<sup>94</sup> This study examined the effects of ELS on methylation by using mothers that exhibited a high level of licking and grooming (LG) and arched back nursing (ABN) behavior compared with those that did not. These behaviors are part of a normal maternal nurturing pattern in rodents for mothers nursing neonates. Those rats raised by either a natural or surrogate mother with "low" LG/ABN behaviors show stronger HPA axis responses to stress than those raised by "high" LG/ABN mothers.<sup>95,96</sup> The rats raised by a "low" LG/ABN mother subsequently revealed an increased methylation pattern of the Nr3c1 promoter in hippocampal DNA that included CpGs within the binding site of the transcription factor NGFI-A.<sup>94</sup> This increased methylation pattern likewise associated with both a decreased acetylation pattern of lysine-9 (K9) of histone H3, which is indicative of lower transcriptional activity<sup>97</sup>, and decreased NGFI-A binding to the Nr3c1 promoter. Nr3c1 is a prime candidate for mediation of long-term health effects due to

stress as it encodes the glucocorticoid receptor (GR), a hormone-activated transcription factor that mediates many of the downstream effects of the stress hormone corticosterone (which corresponds in rodents to cortisol in humans).

A follow-up study demonstrated that NGFI-A binding of the *Nr3c1* promoter sequence is itself responsible for loss of local methylation, and possibly plays a role in the epigenetic programming of *Nr3c1*.<sup>15</sup> Another report studied the effects of ELS on methylation status of the *Nr3c1* promoter region in offspring hippocampal DNA by using maternal separation to induce ELS.<sup>98</sup> The resulting observations included altered hippocampal nerve growth factor and corticosterone levels between rats exposed to ELS and controls, but no significant change in the methylation patterns of *Nr3c1*. The offspring of rats given a protein-restricted diet also exhibit reduced methylation of the *Nr3c1* promoter and a corresponding increase in the expression of hepatic GR.<sup>99</sup> The expression of Dnmt1 in these offspring is also lowered, suggesting a potential causal mechanism for the altered methylation levels of the *Nr3c1* promoter.

Differential methylation of *Avp*, another HPA axis gene, has also been studied by inducing ELS in rodents. ELS in mice results in both hypomethylation of *Avp* and subsequently lowered Avp expression in the hypothalamus.<sup>100</sup> The hypomethylated region includes binding sites for the methyl CpG-binding protein 2 (MeCP2). Mice exposed to ELS also display a consistent increase in corticosterone secretion.<sup>100</sup> These studies highlight the long-term health outcomes that can be influenced by differential methylation patterns induced during a developmental stage in rats equivalent to late pregnancy in human fetuses.

#### **Human Studies**

Studies in humans have claimed associations between prenatal stress and differential methylation patterns of stress-related genes. McGowan *et al.* (2009) compared the degree of CpG methylation in the human *NR3C1* promoter in DNA extracted from the hippocampus of suicide victims with a history of child abuse, suicide victims without child abuse, and individuals who died in accidents.<sup>101</sup> They reported increased methylation of the *NR3C1* promoter of the ELS sample (15% mean methylation vs. 40% vs. 10%, in the suicide-no abuse, suicide-abuse, and accidental groups, respectively), although this study was not specifically examining perinatal stress. A subsequent experiment demonstrated decreased NGFI-A binding to a putative binding site within methylated *NR3C1* promoter constructs as compared to unmethylated constructs. It therefore appeared that methylation decreased NGFI-A-inducible transcription.

Oberlander et al. (2008) reported an increase in the proportion of CpGs methylated in three CpG loci in the *NR3C1* promoter in umbilical cord blood DNA from offspring of women who experienced a depressive or anxious episode during the second or third trimesters of pregnancy, though these methylation differences were much smaller than McGowan (2009) observed.<sup>102</sup> On the other hand, they found no association between neonatal *NR3C1* promoter methylation and prenatal exposure to selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI) antidepressants. Increased methylation at the third CpG locus also showed an association with decreased neonatal salivary cortisol levels at three months of age. This CpG is located in the putative NGFI-A binding site in the *NR3C1* promoter and these findings resemble results reported by Weaver *et al.* (2004) in a similar motif of the orthologous gene in DNA from the hippocampus of rats exposed to ELS.<sup>94</sup> However, unlike the Weaver study, which made use of DNA derived from hippocampus, Oberlander *et al.* used DNA extracted from leukocytes in umbilical cord blood. These two cell populations might differ in their DNA methylation characteristics across the genome, although both are stress responsive (see below). The study can also be criticized for the very small magnitude of differences in methylation observed. Insufficient data are available to assess the biological impact of very small differences in DNA methylation.

Another study examined the effects of maternal depression during pregnancy on DNA methylation in umbilical cord blood in neonates from mothers with psychiatric illnesses.<sup>103</sup> That group reported decreased methylation in *SLC6A4*, which codes for the serotonin transporter, in neonates of mothers experiencing a depressive episode during the second trimester of pregnancy. It is important to note that the foregoing studies examined one or a few candidate CpG sites. The studies therefore did not provide a genomic context in which to evaluate either the statistical significance or magnitude of group differences relative to other regions in the genome. Nevertheless, these studies give evidence of human stress-related "programming" events associated with DNA methylation and extend the range of these events beyond the *in utero* period to early life exposure postpartum.

#### **Epigenetic Patterns Vary by Cell Type**

Epigenetic differences are often cell-type specific. Cellular heterogeneity therefore makes DNA methylation studies in whole organisms much more challenging than studies of DNA-sequence differences because, in principle, the epigenetic state of each individual cell can differ from those of all other cells. However, some epigenetic differences may be robust enough (i.e., are shared by a sufficient proportion of cells) to be detected in heterogeneous cellular preparations. The above rat and human studies utilized brain tissues when available, as with the studies in rats and victims of suicide, but relied on peripheral blood in remaining instances.

Umbilical cord blood is easily accessible and the leukocytes that the bulk of cord blood DNA derives, while heterogeneous, also represents a stress-responsive "tissue" that can be easily accessed without ethical concerns. The DNA extracted from umbilical cord blood is derived predominantly from stress-responsive fetal immune cells, which also express many of the same receptors and corresponding signaling machinery as cells in the central nervous system.<sup>104</sup> A disadvantage of using peripheral blood is that any given cellular extraction will be a heterogeneous mixture of varying types of leukocytes in which methylation signals in smaller cell populations within this mixture could be overwhelmed by the majority cellular signal for a particular CpG site. Despite these limitations, umbilical cord blood represents the most practical source of material for comparative studies of DNA methylation in neonates.

#### **Study Objective**

The main objective of this study was to evaluate the association of specific perinatal exposures with differential DNA methylation patterns at >27,000 CpG sites across the genome in neonates born to women in a prospectively-characterized psychiatric cohort. We hypothesized that maternal mental illness and treatment during

pregnancy would associate with differential DNA methylation patterns in neonates. To test this, we examined DNA methylation in the children of women who sought psychiatric care during pregnancy and who were followed prospectively throughout the remaining pregnancy. While random assignment of medication treatment is not ethically feasible, it is possible to compare the offspring of women who elected to continue (or start) antidepressant medication during pregnancy to those who did not take such medications. In addition, the cohort we studied provided prospective data on a large number of exposures and health indices, which stands in contrast to the retrospective information some prior studies of medication exposure during pregnancy relied upon. Finally, as already noted, prior studies of anti-depressant exposure during pregnancy often did not account for the illnesses prompting treatment. In contrast, our cohort underwent prospective structured evaluations of psychiatric diagnosis and of symptom severity during pregnancy. While it remains impossible to disentangle medication effects from those of the illnesses themselves, the data available in our cohort allowed us to at least account for differences in illness parameters among individuals in specific medication exposure groups. Likewise, we hypothesized that neonatal gestational age would associate with differential DNA methylation patterns in neonates.

The discernment of whether there is an epigenetic impact on neonates due to gestational age at birth, or exposures to maternal psychiatric symptoms or treatment is a vital step in assessing treatment strategies for women with psychiatric symptoms during pregnancy. In addition, documenting molecular evidence of differences in neonatal DNA methylation associated with maternal illness, medication exposure or other prenatal factors could prompt future investigations into possible associations between such factors and long-term post-natal health outcomes in the children. The results of this study could therefore be an important step in future assessments of whether there are epigenetic patterns in specific genes at birth, causal or otherwise, that associate with differences in post-natal outcomes. The remainder of this dissertation will overview the methodologies used in this dissertation as well as technical obstacles encountered therein (Chapter 2), examine the associations between both maternal psychiatric symptoms and treatment during pregnancy with differential DNA methylation (Chapter 3), and examine the association between neonatal DNA methylation and estimated gestational age (Chapter 4). The final chapter will outline summaries from these studies and give concluding remarks. **Figure 1-1**. Representative model of epigenetic modifications of histone and DNA. Histone modifications include acetyl (Ac), methyl (Me), and phosphate (P) groups. Cytosine methylation at CpG dinucleotides is represented by a closed black circle, while open circles symbolize unmethylated cytosines at CpG dinucleotides. DNMT is shown targeting a CpG site for methylation, while TET is shown targeting a 5-methylcytosine for conversion to 5-hydroxymethylcytosine.



# Figure 1-2. Conversion of cytosine to 5-methyl cytosine.



## References

1. Jenuwein T, Allis CD. Translating the histone code. Science 2001;293:1074-80.

2. Taverna SD, Li H, Ruthenburg AJ, Allis CD, Patel DJ. How chromatin-binding modules interpret histone modifications: lessons from professional pocket pickers. Nat Struct Mol Biol 2007;14:1025-40.

3. Tahiliani M, Koh KP, Shen Y, et al. Conversion of 5-methylcytosine to 5hydroxymethylcytosine in mammalian DNA by MLL partner TET1. Science 2009;324:930-5.

4. Ito S, D'Alessio AC, Taranova OV, Hong K, Sowers LC, Zhang Y. Role of Tet proteins in 5mC to 5hmC conversion, ES-cell self-renewal and inner cell mass specification. Nature 2010;466:1129-33.

5. Iqbal K, Jin SG, Pfeifer GP, Szabo PE. Reprogramming of the paternal genome upon fertilization involves genome-wide oxidation of 5-methylcytosine. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2011;108:3642-7.

6. Gu TP, Guo F, Yang H, et al. The role of Tet3 DNA dioxygenase in epigenetic reprogramming by oocytes. Nature 2011;477:606-10.

7. Larsen F, Gundersen G, Lopez R, Prydz H. CpG islands as gene markers in the human genome. Genomics 1992;13:1095-107.

8. Gardiner-Garden M, Frommer M. CpG islands in vertebrate genomes. J Mol Biol 1987;196:261-82.

9. Burton ER, Gaffar A, Lee SJ, et al. Downregulation of Filamin A interacting protein 1-like is associated with promoter methylation and induces an invasive phenotype in ovarian cancer. Mol Cancer Res 2011;9:1126-38.

10. Tang WY, Newbold R, Mardilovich K, et al. Persistent hypomethylation in the promoter of nucleosomal binding protein 1 (Nsbp1) correlates with overexpression of Nsbp1 in mouse uteri neonatally exposed to diethylstilbestrol or genistein. Endocrinology 2008;149:5922-31.

11. Deaton AM, Bird A. CpG islands and the regulation of transcription. Genes Dev 2011;25:1010-22.

12. Henikoff S, Matzke MA. Exploring and explaining epigenetic effects. Trends Genet 1997;13:293-5.

13. Lewis JD, Meehan RR, Henzel WJ, et al. Purification, sequence, and cellular localization of a novel chromosomal protein that binds to methylated DNA. Cell 1992;69:905-14.

14. Serandour AA, Avner S, Percevault F, et al. Epigenetic switch involved in activation of pioneer factor FOXA1-dependent enhancers. Genome Res 2011;21:555-65.

15. Weaver IC, D'Alessio AC, Brown SE, et al. The transcription factor nerve growth factor-inducible protein a mediates epigenetic programming: altering epigenetic marks by immediate-early genes. J Neurosci 2007;27:1756-68.

16. Feldman N, Gerson A, Fang J, et al. G9a-mediated irreversible epigenetic inactivation of Oct-3/4 during early embryogenesis. Nat Cell Biol 2006;8:188-94.

17. Rountree MR, Bachman KE, Baylin SB. DNMT1 binds HDAC2 and a new corepressor, DMAP1, to form a complex at replication foci. Nat Genet 2000;25:269-77. 18. Fuks F, Burgers WA, Brehm A, Hughes-Davies L, Kouzarides T. DNA methyltransferase Dnmt1 associates with histone deacetylase activity. Nat Genet 2000;24:88-91.

19. Fuks F, Hurd PJ, Deplus R, Kouzarides T. The DNA methyltransferases associate with HP1 and the SUV39H1 histone methyltransferase. Nucleic Acids Res 2003;31:2305-12.

20. Fuks F, Hurd PJ, Wolf D, Nan X, Bird AP, Kouzarides T. The methyl-CpGbinding protein MeCP2 links DNA methylation to histone methylation. J Biol Chem 2003;278:4035-40.

21. Reik W, Walter J. Genomic imprinting: parental influence on the genome. Nat Rev Genet 2001;2:21-32.

22. Lucchesi JC, Kelly WG, Panning B. Chromatin remodeling in dosage compensation. Annu Rev Genet 2005;39:615-51.

23. Yoder JA, Walsh CP, Bestor TH. Cytosine methylation and the ecology of intragenomic parasites. Trends Genet 1997;13:335-40.

24. Szpakowski S, Sun X, Lage JM, et al. Loss of epigenetic silencing in tumors preferentially affects primate-specific retroelements. Gene 2009;448:151-67.

25. Mitchell AR, Jeppesen P, Nicol L, Morrison H, Kipling D. Epigenetic control of mammalian centromere protein binding: does DNA methylation have a role? J Cell Sci 1996;109 (Pt 9):2199-206.

26. Miniou P, Jeanpierre M, Bourc'his D, Coutinho Barbosa AC, Blanquet V, Viegas-Pequignot E. alpha-satellite DNA methylation in normal individuals and in ICF patients: heterogeneous methylation of constitutive heterochromatin in adult and fetal tissues. Hum Genet 1997;99:738-45.

27. Wolff GL, Kodell RL, Moore SR, Cooney CA. Maternal epigenetics and methyl supplements affect agouti gene expression in Avy/a mice. Faseb J 1998;12:949-57.

28. Waterland RA, Jirtle RL. Transposable elements: targets for early nutritional effects on epigenetic gene regulation. Mol Cell Biol 2003;23:5293-300.

29. Aagaard-Tillery KM, Grove K, Bishop J, et al. Developmental origins of disease and determinants of chromatin structure: maternal diet modifies the primate fetal epigenome. J Mol Endocrinol 2008;41:91-102.

30. Gheorghe CP, Mohan S, Oberg KC, Longo LD. Gene expression patterns in the hypoxic murine placenta: a role in epigenesis? Reprod Sci 2007;14:223-33.

31. Shutoh Y, Takeda M, Ohtsuka R, et al. Low dose effects of

dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT) on gene transcription and DNA methylation in the hypothalamus of young male rats: implication of hormesis-like effects. J Toxicol Sci 2009;34:469-82.

32. MacLennan NK, James SJ, Melnyk S, et al. Uteroplacental insufficiency alters DNA methylation, one-carbon metabolism, and histone acetylation in IUGR rats. Physiol Genomics 2004;18:43-50.

33. Kovacheva VP, Mellott TJ, Davison JM, et al. Gestational choline deficiency causes global and Igf2 gene DNA hypermethylation by up-regulation of Dnmt1 expression. J Biol Chem 2007;282:31777-88.

34. Desaulniers D, Xiao GH, Leingartner K, Chu I, Musicki B, Tsang BK. Comparisons of brain, uterus, and liver mRNA expression for cytochrome p450s, DNA methyltransferase-1, and catechol-o-methyltransferase in prepubertal female SpragueDawley rats exposed to a mixture of aryl hydrocarbon receptor agonists. Toxicol Sci 2005;86:175-84.

35. Tao L, Wang W, Li L, Kramer PM, Pereira MA. Effect of dibromoacetic acid on DNA methylation, glycogen accumulation, and peroxisome proliferation in mouse and rat liver. Toxicol Sci 2004;82:62-9.

36. Benbrahim-Tallaa L, Waterland RA, Styblo M, Achanzar WE, Webber MM, Waalkes MP. Molecular events associated with arsenic-induced malignant transformation of human prostatic epithelial cells: aberrant genomic DNA methylation and K-ras oncogene activation. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 2005;206:288-98.

37. Anway MD, Cupp AS, Uzumcu M, Skinner MK. Epigenetic transgenerational actions of endocrine disruptors and male fertility. Science 2005;308:1466-9.

38. Inawaka K, Kawabe M, Takahashi S, et al. Maternal exposure to anti-androgenic compounds, vinclozolin, flutamide and procymidone, has no effects on spermatogenesis and DNA methylation in male rats of subsequent generations. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 2009;237:178-87.

39. Skinner MK, Manikkam M, Guerrero-Bosagna C. Epigenetic transgenerational actions of environmental factors in disease etiology. Trends Endocrinol Metab 2010;21:214-22.

40. Zheng S, Rollet M, Pan YX. Maternal protein restriction during pregnancy induces CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein (C/EBPbeta) expression through the regulation of histone modification at its promoter region in female offspring rat skeletal muscle. Epigenetics 2011;6:161-70.

41. Tosh DN, Fu Q, Callaway CW, et al. Epigenetics of programmed obesity: alteration in IUGR rat hepatic IGF1 mRNA expression and histone structure in rapid vs. delayed postnatal catch-up growth. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2010;299:G1023-9.

42. Maalouf WE, Alberio R, Campbell KH. Differential acetylation of histone H4 lysine during development of in vitro fertilized, cloned and parthenogenetically activated bovine embryos. Epigenetics 2008;3:199-209.

43. Barker DJ, Osmond C. Infant mortality, childhood nutrition, and ischaemic heart disease in England and Wales. Lancet 1986;1:1077-81.

44. Barker DJ. Maternal nutrition, fetal nutrition, and disease in later life. Nutrition 1997;13:807-13.

45. Spencer SJ, Tilbrook A. Neonatal overfeeding alters adult anxiety and stress responsiveness. Psychoneuroendocrinology 2009;34:1133-43.

46. Kajantie E, Osmond C, Barker DJ, Eriksson JG. Preterm birth--a risk factor for type 2 diabetes? The Helsinki birth cohort study. Diabetes Care 2010;33:2623-5.

47. Kerr-Wilson CO, Mackay DF, Smith GC, Pell JP. Meta-analysis of the association between preterm delivery and intelligence. J Public Health (Oxf) 2011.

48. Karlberg J, Albertsson-Wikland K. Growth in full-term small-for-gestational-age infants: from birth to final height. Pediatr Res 1995;38:733-9.

49. Larroque B, Bertrais S, Czernichow P, Leger J. School difficulties in 20-year-olds who were born small for gestational age at term in a regional cohort study. Pediatrics 2001;108:111-5.

50. Fortunato A, Tosti E. The impact of in vitro fertilization on health of the children: an update. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2011;154:125-9.

51. Kyle UG, Pichard C. The Dutch Famine of 1944-1945: a pathophysiological model of long-term consequences of wasting disease. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 2006;9:388-94.

52. Roseboom T, de Rooij S, Painter R. The Dutch famine and its long-term consequences for adult health. Early Hum Dev 2006;82:485-91.

53. de Rooij SR, Wouters H, Yonker JE, Painter RC, Roseboom TJ. Prenatal undernutrition and cognitive function in late adulthood. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2010;107:16881-6.

54. Ravelli AC, van der Meulen JH, Michels RP, et al. Glucose tolerance in adults after prenatal exposure to famine. Lancet 1998;351:173-7.

55. Beydoun H, Saftlas AF. Physical and mental health outcomes of prenatal maternal stress in human and animal studies: a review of recent evidence. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol 2008;22:438-66.

56. Wadhwa PD, Culhane JF, Rauh V, et al. Stress, infection and preterm birth: a biobehavioural perspective. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol 2001;15 Suppl 2:17-29.

57. Brazelton TB. Neonatal Behavior Assessment Scale. Philadelphia: Lippincoff; 1984.

58. Field T, Diego M, Dieter J, et al. Prenatal depression effects on the fetus and the newborn. Infant Behavior & Development 2004;27:216-29.

59. Jones NA, Field T, Fox NA, Davalos M, Lundy B, Hart S. Newborns of depressed mothers are physiologically less developed. Infant Behavior and Development 1998;21:537-41.

60. Zuckerman B, Bauchner H, Parker S, Cabral H. Maternal depressive symptoms during pregnancy, and newborn irritability. J Dev Behav Pediatr 1990;11:190-4.

61. Silberg JL, Maes H, Eaves LJ. Genetic and environmental influences on the transmission of parental depression to children's depression and conduct disturbance: an extended Children of Twins study. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2010;51:734-44.

62. Hay DF, Pawlby S, Waters CS, Perra O, Sharp D. Mothers' antenatal depression and their children's antisocial outcomes. Child Dev 2010;81:149-65.

63. Gerardin P, Wendland J, Bodeau N, et al. Depression during pregnancy: is the developmental impact earlier in boys? a prospective case-control study. J Clin Psychiatry 2011;72:378-87.

64. Davis EP, Glynn LM, Schetter CD, Hobel C, Chicz-Demet A, Sandman CA. Prenatal exposure to maternal depression and cortisol influences infant temperament. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2007;46:737-46.

65. Sarkar P, Bergman K, Fisk NM, O'Connor TG, Glover V. Ontogeny of foetal exposure to maternal cortisol using midtrimester amniotic fluid as a biomarker. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 2007;66:636-40.

66. Andrade SE, Raebel MA, Brown J, et al. Use of antidepressant medications during pregnancy: a multisite study. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2008;198:194 e1-5.

67. Cohen LS, Nonacs RM, Bailey JW, et al. Relapse of depression during pregnancy following antidepressant discontinuation: a preliminary prospective study. Arch Womens Ment Health 2004;7:217-21.

68. Petersen I, Gilbert RE, Evans SJ, Man SL, Nazareth I. Pregnancy as a major determinant for discontinuation of antidepressants: an analysis of data from The Health Improvement Network. J Clin Psychiatry 2011.

69. Hostetter A, Ritchie JC, Stowe ZN. Amniotic fluid and umbilical cord blood concentrations of antidepressants in three women. Biol Psychiatry 2000;48:1032-4.

70. Lorenzo L, Byers B, Einarson A. Antidepressant use in pregnancy. Expert Opin Drug Saf 2011.

71. Cole JA, Modell JG, Haight BR, Cosmatos IS, Stoler JM, Walker AM. Bupropion in pregnancy and the prevalence of congenital malformations. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf 2007;16:474-84.

72. Figueroa R. Use of antidepressants during pregnancy and risk of attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder in the offspring. J Dev Behav Pediatr 2010;31:641-8.

73. Galbally M, Lewis AJ, Buist A. Developmental outcomes of children exposed to antidepressants in pregnancy. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2011;45:393-9.

74. Casper RC, Fleisher BE, Lee-Ancajas JC, et al. Follow-up of children of depressed mothers exposed or not exposed to antidepressant drugs during pregnancy. J Pediatr 2003;142:402-8.

75. Fraga MF, Ballestar E, Paz MF, et al. Epigenetic differences arise during the lifetime of monozygotic twins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2005;102:10604-9.

76. Calvanese V, Lara E, Kahn A, Fraga MF. The role of epigenetics in aging and age-related diseases. Ageing Res Rev 2009;8:268-76.

77. Rakyan VK, Down TA, Maslau S, et al. Human aging-associated DNA hypermethylation occurs preferentially at bivalent chromatin domains. Genome Res 2010;20:434-9.

78. Teschendorff AE, Menon U, Gentry-Maharaj A, et al. Age-dependent DNA methylation of genes that are suppressed in stem cells is a hallmark of cancer. Genome Res 2010;20:440-6.

79. Peleg D, Kennedy CM, Hunter SK. Intrauterine growth restriction: identification and management. Am Fam Physician 1998;58:453-60, 66-7.

80. Goldenberg RL, Culhane JF, Iams JD, Romero R. Epidemiology and causes of preterm birth. Lancet 2008;371:75-84.

81. Sukhov A, Wu Y, Xing G, Smith LH, Gilbert WM. Risk factors associated with cerebral palsy in preterm infants. J Matern Fetal Neona 2011.

82. Spittle AJ, Treyvaud K, Doyle LW, et al. Early emergence of behavior and socialemotional problems in very preterm infants. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2009;48:909-18.

83. Talge NM, Holzman C, Wang J, Lucia V, Gardiner J, Breslau N. Late-preterm birth and its association with cognitive and socioemotional outcomes at 6 years of age. Pediatrics 2010;126:1124-31.

84. Colvin M, McGuire W, Fowlie PW. Neurodevelopmental outcomes after preterm birth. Bmj 2004;329:1390-3.

85. Gurka MJ, LoCasale-Crouch J, Blackman JA. Long-term cognition, achievement, socioemotional, and behavioral development of healthy late-preterm infants. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2010;164:525-32.

86. Moster D, Wilcox AJ, Vollset SE, Markestad T, Lie RT. Cerebral palsy among term and postterm births. Jama 2010;304:976-82.

87. Ehrenstein V, Pedersen L, Holsteen V, Larsen H, Rothman KJ, Sorensen HT. Postterm delivery and risk for epilepsy in childhood. Pediatrics 2007;119:e554-61.

88. Bruckner TA, Cheng YW, Caughey AB. Increased neonatal mortality among normal-weight births beyond 41 weeks of gestation in California. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2008;199:421 e1-7.

89. Tita AT, Landon MB, Spong CY, et al. Timing of elective repeat cesarean delivery at term and neonatal outcomes. N Engl J Med 2009;360:111-20.

90. Clark SL, Miller DD, Belfort MA, Dildy GA, Frye DK, Meyers JA. Neonatal and maternal outcomes associated with elective term delivery. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2009;200:156 e1-4.

91. Young PC, Glasgow TS, Li X, Guest-Warnick G, Stoddard G. Mortality of latepreterm (near-term) newborns in Utah. Pediatrics 2007;119:e659-65.

92. Caldji C, Hellstrom IC, Zhang TY, Diorio J, Meaney MJ. Environmental regulation of the neural epigenome. FEBS Lett 2011;585:2049-58.

93. Dobbing J, Sands J. Comparative aspects of the brain growth spurt. Early Hum Dev 1979;3:79-83.

94. Weaver IC, Cervoni N, Champagne FA, et al. Epigenetic programming by maternal behavior. Nat Neurosci 2004;7:847-54.

95. Liu D, Diorio J, Tannenbaum B, et al. Maternal care, hippocampal glucocorticoid receptors, and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal responses to stress. Science 1997;277:1659-62.

96. Francis D, Diorio J, Liu D, Meaney MJ. Nongenomic transmission across generations of maternal behavior and stress responses in the rat. Science 1999;286:1155-8.

97. Kadonaga JT. Eukaryotic transcription: an interlaced network of transcription factors and chromatin-modifying machines. Cell 1998;92:307-13.

98. Daniels WM, Fairbairn LR, van Tilburg G, et al. Maternal separation alters nerve growth factor and corticosterone levels but not the DNA methylation status of the exon 1(7) glucocorticoid receptor promoter region. Metab Brain Dis 2009;24:615-27.

99. Lillycrop KA, Slater-Jefferies JL, Hanson MA, Godfrey KM, Jackson AA, Burdge GC. Induction of altered epigenetic regulation of the hepatic glucocorticoid receptor in the offspring of rats fed a protein-restricted diet during pregnancy suggests that reduced DNA methyltransferase-1 expression is involved in impaired DNA methylation and changes in histone modifications. Br J Nutr 2007;97:1064-73.

100. Murgatroyd C, Patchev AV, Wu Y, et al. Dynamic DNA methylation programs persistent adverse effects of early-life stress. Nat Neurosci 2009;12:1559-66.

101. McGowan PO, Sasaki A, D'Alessio AC, et al. Epigenetic regulation of the glucocorticoid receptor in human brain associates with childhood abuse. Nat Neurosci 2009;12:342-8.

102. Oberlander TF, Weinberg J, Papsdorf M, Grunau R, Misri S, Devlin AM. Prenatal exposure to maternal depression, neonatal methylation of human glucocorticoid receptor gene (NR3C1) and infant cortisol stress responses. Epigenetics 2008;3:97-106.

103. Devlin AM, Brain U, Austin J, Oberlander TF. Prenatal exposure to maternal depressed mood and the MTHFR C677T variant affect SLC6A4 methylation in infants at birth. PLoS One 2010;5:e12201.

104. Rollins B, Martin MV, Morgan L, Vawter MP. Analysis of whole genome biomarker expression in blood and brain. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet 2010;153B:919-36.

Chapter 2

**Technical Methodologies** 

#### Genome-wide Studies of Sequence Variation and DNA Methylation

The candidate gene approach to genetic association studies is based on the rationale that genetic variation associated with a given phenotype can be identified through examining genes or regions supported by specific biological evidence. While candidate gene studies play an important role in genetic epidemiology, they are limited by the current understanding of the molecular underpinnings of the phenotype being studied. This limitation is amplified when examining complex traits that involve multiple genes that may interact with environmental factors to influence phenotypic expression. Successful candidate gene studies often yield variants that have modest effects on a given phenotype and are not readily replicated in subsequent investigations. Thus, the literature is replete with single-gene association studies that use lenient significance criteria that are not consistent with those used in genome-wide investigations. In fact, most genes identified in genome-wide studies are incongruous with prior biological evidence of the molecular underpinnings of those phenotypes.<sup>1</sup>

In contrast to candidate-gene studies, genome-wide association studies (GWAS) test loci across the entire genome, in an attempt to uncover genetic variants that are causal or are in linkage disequilibrium with potentially causal variants for a given phenotype. As such, these studies need not limit their range of genomic inquiry to candidate genes based on prior biological data of gene functions. GWAS of large numbers of individuals successfully identified numerous genes that were not previously suspected of being associated with complex diseases, including Crohns Disease<sup>2,3</sup>, Types 1 and 2 Diabetes,<sup>4-6</sup> and myocardial infarction<sup>7</sup>, as well as quantitative traits such as height<sup>8,9</sup> and skin pigmentation<sup>10,11</sup>. To date, GWAS have shown less success in
psychiatric disorders such as bipolar disorder and schizophrenia even though heritability estimates of the liability to those disorders range from 50-80%.<sup>12</sup> A practical challenge in genome-wide studies is that they require correction for conducting large numbers of statistical tests, and thus require larger sample sizes to maintain power due to stringent significance criteria. However, adherence to such stringent criteria has proven key to generating replicable results.

As reviewed in Chapter 1, methylation of DNA at CpG dinucleotides can associate with complex phenotypes, and several approaches exist for interrogating large numbers of CpG dinucleotides for methylation. Sampling DNA methylation on increasingly finer genomic scales has resulted in increased understanding of human development<sup>13,14</sup>, aging<sup>15,16</sup> and complex phenotypes.<sup>17,18</sup>

### Laboratory Approaches to Genomic-scale Analysis of DNA Methylation

Early genomic procedures used methylation-sensitive restriction enzyme digestion in combination with gel electrophoreses and Southern blotting to analyze differential DNA-digest patterns reflecting methylation patterns.<sup>19</sup> DNA can also be digested by methylation-sensitive enzymes and interrogated via 2-D gel electrophoresis and autoradiography in a process known as restriction landmark genome scanning (RLGS). This procedure has been used for larger-scale characterization of methylation patterns that are tissue-specific.<sup>20,21</sup> More recent protocols isolate and enrich methylated DNA via immunoprecipitation with antibodies specific for methylated cytosine.<sup>22</sup> Genomic areas enriched by such methylated-DNA immunoprecipitation (MeDIP) can be interrogated by downstream applications including real-time PCR, arrays specific for

particular loci (MeDIP-chip)<sup>22,23</sup> or next-generation sequencing technology (MeDIP-seq).<sup>24</sup>

Another technique for studying DNA methylation is through the use of bisulfiteconverted DNA templates (described in Array Processing below). Platforms relying on bisulfite-treated DNA are capable of reliably querying high numbers of specific loci. Extensive bisulfite treatment required for full conversion of methylated cytosines can cause DNA degradation, though the quality of DNA required for techniques using bisulfite-converted DNA is not as high as it is for other applications. Indeed, bisulfitebased methodologies have a higher tolerance for sheared DNA fragments because preservation of flanking regions is usually not required. These techniques also require less overall DNA than affinity-enrichment methodologies and are less prone to contamination than are other methodologies because bisulfite-converted human DNA is no longer analogous to untreated human genomic DNA. However, bisulfite-based approaches are limited because they produce sometimes heterogeneous sets of DNA templates making it difficult to design reliable oligonucleotides targeting these templates for PCR and other applications.

This study used the HumanMethylation27 BeadChip array produced by Illumina, Inc. (San Diego, CA). This array utilizes BeadArray technology where probes with sequences complementary to specific to particular genomic loci are covalently bound to beads and assigned specific, known "addresses" on a BeadChip array.<sup>25</sup> The HumanMethylation27 BeadChip interrogates 27,578 CpG dinucleotides across 14,495 genes, or roughly 0.1% of the estimated 28 million CpG dinucleotides in the human genome. The array queries at least one CpG site in approximately 56% of annotated human genes. In addition to the breadth of loci examined, the Infinium array also provides approximately a 30X redundancy for each locus investigated, which amounts to 60 probes of two varieties per locus. This array has performed reliably in previous studies, including those examining methylation in DNA extracted from blood.<sup>25-28</sup> Despite the large number of loci investigated, the HumanMethylation27 array only requires a small amount of input DNA for the procedure. The breadth of loci interrogated, depth of coverage, and limited input requirements make this array an appealing application for an unbiased study of methylation patterns in complex phenotypes.

### **Overview of the Infinium Protocol**

An initial genomic DNA sample is bisulfite converted, whole-genome amplified, sheared and hybridized to the BeadChip. The BeadChip utilizes one of two probe varieties specific for each particular CpG: a methylated and an unmethylated version (Figure 2-1). Both versions of the probe are complementary to the bisulfite-converted sequence flanking the CpG of interest with the exception of the 3' end. The final 3' end base of the methylated probe variety is complementary to a cytosine while this final base is complementary to a thymine in the unmethylated probe. Each bead is saturated by covalently-bound probes that are uniformly specific to one CpG site in only one of the two methylation-state varieties. These beads reside in well coordinates that are customized for each particular chip. The bisulfite-converted DNA fragments hybridize to their complementary probes and are extended by a single base downstream, which yields

a detectable signal after processing. These signals are then scanned and analyzed to yield a value analogous to the proportion of DNA methylated at a given locus.

# **Sample Preparation**

The Emory Women's Mental Health Program (WHMP) umbilical cord blood samples were collected at birth, stored on ice, and processed within 2 hours of delivery. Plasma was separated by centrifugation at 4<sup>o</sup>C, and the cellular fraction was frozen at - $80^{\circ}$ C until processing. DNA was extracted from the cellular fraction at the Emory Biomarker Service Center using a Qiagen Biorobot M48. The resulting DNA elutions were of varying concentrations and had to be normalized to a consistent concentration between them in order to ensure accuracy of pipetting during the bisulfite-conversion procedure. The initial quantification of the elutions were performed using Quant-iT PicoGreen (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA) that intercalates into double stranded DNA giving a detection signal that is proportional to the amount of DNA in the solution. The samples were then assayed the Synergy 2 Multimode Microplate Reader (BioTek, Winooski, VT). The concentrations of the DNA were verified alongside DNA standards of known quantity using agarose gels. Following completion of quantification, normalization and sample QC procedures, 500ng of each sample was used in the bisulfite conversion reaction.

#### **Array Processing**

Prior to hybridization, each DNA sample was bisulfite-converted using the EZ DNA Methylation Kit (Zymo Research, Orange County, CA), whole-genome amplified and sheared into fragments. Bisulfite treatment converts unmethylated cytosine to uracil by first sulfonating the 6 carbon of the pyrimidine ring of cytosine, which is then followed by a hydrolytic deamination of the 4 carbon and a 6 alkali-desulphonation producing uracil (Figure 2-2). Through subsequent amplifications, this uracil is replaced by thymine while methylated cytosines remain as cytosines after treatment. The bisulfite-converted DNA fragments were then hybridized onto more than two dozen 12lane chips along with one technical control per chip, which was DNA from a single adult female.

A loading strategy was devised that sought to randomize the samples across chips according to a grouping of maternal drug exposures that is correlated with the diagnosis of the mothers as well as neonatal sex and race. The DNA fragments hybridize to the probes that each fragment is complementary to both in CpG locus and in DNA methylation state. These DNA fragments act as a template to extend the probes with a single dideoxynucleotide triphosphate, which cannot itself be extended because of the lack of a hydroxyl group on the 3' carbon of the deoxyribose sugar. These dideoxynucleotides were labeled with either biotin or 2,4-dinitrophenol (DNP) followed by fluorescent staining that were subsequently detected by the laser-based scanner BeadStation 500 (Illumina, Inc., San Diego, CA) after the chips were processed. The fluorescent hybridization signals representing relative levels of converted and unconverted CpGs were extracted from the Methylation Module of the BeadStudio software. In the graphic output, each well exhibits a signal of uniform fluorescent color, the magnitude of which reflects the percentage of either methylated or unmethylated template strands (depending on which variety of probe is bound to the bead in that well)

for that particular CpG locus. Signals collected from each probe variety for a particular CpG locus scattered across the chip were averaged together to create a mean methylated and mean unmethylated signal for that CpG locus. These values were used to create a  $\beta$  value that is computed as

$$\beta = \frac{\text{methylated signal}}{\text{methylated signal+unmethylated signal}}$$
(1)

yielding a result that is effectively the proportion of DNA methylated at a particular CpG locus. Three samples with probe detection call rates <90% or an average intensity value of either <50% of the experiment-wide sample mean or <2000 arbitrary units (AU) were then excluded from further analysis. Hierarchical clustering was also performed on the  $\beta$  values to identify samples that were extreme outliers based on their global methylation patterns; three samples were eliminated from further analysis (Figure 2-3B).

#### **Chip and Experiment Effects**

Sizeable signaling discrepancies between two given samples can be observed if the two samples were run on two different chips. These "chip effects" can arise because manufacturing inconsistencies between any two chips at some time during their production were substantial enough to affect the final outcome of an experiment (Figure 2-3). Alternatively, chip effects can result from an inconsistency between the way two chips were processed during an experiment due to user technique, reagent usage, or other incidentals. We applied a multi-pronged strategy for avoiding experimental error due to chip effects. As mentioned previously, samples were randomized by experimental group, and a technical control was included on all chips in this study. This control was utilized in a quality control assessment after the chips were run, which successfully identified two chips (Figure 2-3A) that were so divergent from the mean of all remaining technical controls that they were thrown out of the experiment and their samples rehybridized to new chips that yielded results comparable to the successful chips in quality (Figure 2-3B). Another strategy used to account for chip effects was to create a variable for chip numbers that could be used to control for chip effects in our statistical analyses. The resulting data set was adjusted for what Bolstad *et al.* describe as "obscuring variation" that interferes with an analysis of remaining, biologically-relevant variation arising from the data.<sup>29</sup> The combination of these precautions has increased the confidence in our results by reducing the likelihood of distortions due to chip effects.

Like chip effects, variation between experiments (sets of chips run at one time) could conceivably generate errors not due to biological variation between samples within each experiment. Experiment effects could arise for comparable reasons that chip effects would: differences in manufacturing consistency, or in the manner in which each experiment was performed. Although we initially statistically adjusted for both chip and experiment effects, we later realized that inconsistencies between experiments could be adequately accounted for by adjusting for chip effects alone due to the small number of experiments performed.

### HumanMethylation27 Probe Issues

The allelic composition of sequence variants can vary widely between diverse populations and ethnic groups.<sup>30,31</sup> Several technical complications may arise during the stages of hybridization and extension of the HumanMethylation27 probes if a SNP resides at or near the CpG of interest. If a SNP lies under the probe itself, the presence of an allele that does not match the probe will decrease the binding efficiency of the probe and likely altering the final signal strength that results from the single base extension (Figure 2-4). Likewise, the existence of a SNP at either the cytosine or guanine of a CpG dinucleotide may alleviate the CpG site entirely, highlighting the interesting complication that variation in the potential for methylation due to sequence differences can contribute to the overall differences in patterns of methylation among individuals. Finally, variation in the SNP used for the single base extension (SBE) reaction (one nucleotide downstream of the CpG site) may disrupt the expected fluorescent signals if the substitution of the SNP allele required extension by a nucleotide bound to the other fluorescent dye.

Due to the potential complications caused by SNP proximity to CpGs of interest, we sought to characterize the abundance of probes in the HumanMethylation27 array that fell into the aforementioned categories (Table 2-1). Because Illumina has reported that mismatches beyond 10 bases of the 3' end of a probe should not interfere with probe annealing, SNPs discovered within probe sequences were divided into those within 10 bases of the 3' end and those simply under a 50 base length probe. Of note is the preponderance of probes with SNPs under the CpG site of interest (273 probes with SNPs at the cytosine site and 273 at the guanine), with 206 (75.5%) C/T transitions at the cytosine site and 230 (84.2%) G/A transitions at the guanine site. These results reflect the higher propensity of 5'-meth-C/T transitions observed at CpG dinucleotides, which are more likely to occur outside CpG islands. Using our methylation data from the HumanMethylation27 BeadChip, though not genotyping individual samples, we plotted the methylated vs. unmethylated signals in two probes (cg13284426 and cg22022041) that associated with race (p<1.81x10<sup>-6</sup>) and had a SNP located under the CpG site (rs56997225 and rs41289608, respectively; Figure 2-5). Both of these probes display a decreased or eliminated methylation signal in a portion of the samples. An examination of the racial constitution of these SNPs using the 1000 Genomes Project revealed that rs56997225 is polymorphic for C/T in African populations (minor allele frequency (MAF)=16%) and rs41289608 is polymorphic for G/A in both African and European populations, though at greatly different rates (MAF=34% vs. 1%, respectively). While the distorting influence that allelic variation in these probes warrant additional exploration, CpG sites associated with any outcome examined in this study do not appear to have SNPs that influence binding of the associated probes.

Similar technical issues could theoretically occur due to variation in the methylation status of CpG dinucleotides flanking the CpG of interest. While the design of the two varieties of probes (methylated and unmethylated) on the HumanMethylation27 chip does account for the methylation status of neighboring CpGs that may lay under the probe, this design assumes that the CpGs immediately flanking the CpG of interest will usually bear the same methylation status as the CpG of interest (Figure 2-4).<sup>32</sup> For example, if there are two CpG sites under a particular probe, the methylated variety of that probe will also contain bases that are complementary to the methylated (that is, cytosine-preserved) versions of those two flanking CpGs. If one or

both of these flanking CpGs are unmethylated, the methylated probe variety will be mismatched at one or both of those CpG sites in the same way it would be to a minor allele at a SNP. Although, as was stated previously, Illumina has reported that mismatches beyond a 10 base distance from the 3' end of the probe should not affect probe hybridization while those within 10 bases could possibly affect hybridization.

To assess the prevalence and influence of these flanking CpGs, we examined the full set of HumanMethylation27 probes to characterize the number of flanking CpG dinucleotides within 10 bases of the 3' end or under any probe bases. The results can be seen in Table 2-2. Of note is the finding that only 79% of the probes did not have a flanking CpG dinucleotide within 10 bases of the probe's 3' end. Likewise, only 26.3% of the probes had no flanking CpGs included in their sequence, which is reflective of the density of CpG dinucleotides in CpG islands.

Illumina has based their probe design on the fact that flanking CpGs that are within 50 bases of the CpG of interest (the length of a probe) will predominantly carry the same methylation status as the CpG of interest. Any stochastic fluctuation in the methylation status that does occur between two flanking CpGs suggests that the bias of both methylated and unmethylated probes will result in a reduction of signal strength instead of a systemic bias. This reduction in signal strength should not be problematic because our measure is not signal strength but  $\beta$ , which is calculated as a ratio of these two signals.

# **Statistical Analysis**

Associations between DNA methylation and each particular phenotype were analyzed by fitting separate linear mixed effects models for each probe using  $\log\left(\frac{\beta}{1-\beta}\right)$ as an outcome. Each analysis included covariates that have known effects on either DNA methylation or the phenotype of interest. Covariates that were included in all analyses were sex and race of the neonate, as well as a random effects term to account for chip effects. In addition to clear differences expected between the methylation patterns seen in each sex, sex also correlates with birth weight and gestational age.<sup>33,34</sup> Similarly, race is associated with both differential methylation and gestational age.<sup>33,35</sup> The false discovery rate for each analysis was controlled at .05 to account for 27,578 tests per analysis.<sup>36</sup>

The methods detailed in this chapter were applied to subsequent investigations of the association between DNA methylation of the HumanMethylation27 loci and maternal psychiatric illness and treatment (Chapter 3), and estimated gestational age (Chapter 4). Molecular and statistical methods specific to each study are detailed in the respective chapters.

	Number of Probes (%)	#Probes/base
SNPs at SBE site	50 (.18)	50
SNPs at CpG site		
SNPs at C	273 (.98)	273
SNPs at G	273 (.98)	273
SNPs under bases 2-10 from 3' end	619 (2.2)	77.4
SNPs under bases 11-50 from 3' end	4741 (17.2)	118.5

**Table 2-1.** Prevalence of SNPs under the HumanMethylation27 probes or at the singlebase extension nucleotide.

	Number of Probes (%)	
# of flanking CpGs within 10 bases of 3' end:		
0 CpGs	21800 (79)	
1 CpG	5250 (19)	
2 CpGs	502 (1.8)	
3 CpGs	26 (.094)	
# of flanking CpGs under any probe sequence:		
0 CpGs	7253 (26.3)	
1 CpG	8302 (30.1)	
2 CpGs	5879 (21.3)	
3 CpGs	3615 (13.1)	
4 CpGs	1651 (6)	
5 CpGs	628 (2.3)	
6 CpGs	155 (.56)	
7 CpGs	52 (.19)	
8 CpGs	27 (.098)	
9 CpGs	11 (.04)	
10 CpGs	5 (.018)	

**Table 2-2.** Prevalence of flanking CpG dinucleotides under the HumanMethylation27

probes or at the single base extension nucleotide.

**Figure 2-1.** Model depicting the HumanMethylation27 BeadChip extension reaction. After the genomic DNA is bisulfite converted, the unmethylated probe (U) will only extend when bound to an unmethylated DNA strand while the methylated probe (M) will only extend when bound to a methylated DNA strand.

Unmethylated Locus

Methylated Locus



Figure 2-2. Bisulfite conversion of cytosine to uracil.



**Figure 2-3**. Chip effects shown by average sample intensity by BeadChip. A) the original scan of all 28 BeadChips with outlying chips 11 and 22, and B) the full set of 28 BeadChips with chips 11 and 22 re-hybridized.





**Figure 2-4.** Representative HumanMethylation27 probe with mismatched nucleotides. A) Unmethylated and B) methylated versions of a hypothetical probe and corresponding templates containing flanking CpGs (in parentheses), a SNP (in italics), and the single base extension nucleotide (underlined). Two mismatches are shown due to an unmethylated flanking CpG on the methylated strand template (B) and a SNP minor allele present in both strands.



**Figure 2-5.** Scatterplots of methylated vs. unmethylated signals. Probes A) cg13284426 and B) cg22022041 are shown containing SNPs rs56997225 and rs41289608, respectively.



# References

- 1. Altshuler D, Daly MJ, Lander ES. Genetic mapping in human disease. *Science*. Nov 7 2008;322(5903):881-888.
- 2. Duerr RH, Taylor KD, Brant SR, et al. A genome-wide association study identifies IL23R as an inflammatory bowel disease gene. *Science*. Dec 1 2006;314(5804):1461-1463.
- **3.** Libioulle C, Louis E, Hansoul S, et al. Novel Crohn disease locus identified by genome-wide association maps to a gene desert on 5p13.1 and modulates expression of PTGER4. *PLoS Genet*. Apr 20 2007;3(4):e58.
- **4.** Gloyn AL, Weedon MN, Owen KR, et al. Large-scale association studies of variants in genes encoding the pancreatic beta-cell KATP channel subunits Kir6.2 (KCNJ11) and SUR1 (ABCC8) confirm that the KCNJ11 E23K variant is associated with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes*. Feb 2003;52(2):568-572.
- 5. Hakonarson H, Qu HQ, Bradfield JP, et al. A novel susceptibility locus for type 1 diabetes on Chr12q13 identified by a genome-wide association study. *Diabetes*. Apr 2008;57(4):1143-1146.
- 6. Steinthorsdottir V, Thorleifsson G, Reynisdottir I, et al. A variant in CDKAL1 influences insulin response and risk of type 2 diabetes. *Nat Genet.* Jun 2007;39(6):770-775.
- 7. Samani NJ, Erdmann J, Hall AS, et al. Genomewide association analysis of coronary artery disease. *N Engl J Med.* Aug 2 2007;357(5):443-453.
- 8. Weedon MN, Lettre G, Freathy RM, et al. A common variant of HMGA2 is associated with adult and childhood height in the general population. *Nat Genet*. Oct 2007;39(10):1245-1250.
- **9.** Yang J, Benyamin B, McEvoy BP, et al. Common SNPs explain a large proportion of the heritability for human height. *Nat Genet.* Jul 2010;42(7):565-569.
- **10.** Bonilla C, Boxill LA, Donald SA, et al. The 8818G allele of the agouti signaling protein (ASIP) gene is ancestral and is associated with darker skin color in African Americans. *Hum Genet*. Apr 2005;116(5):402-406.
- **11.** Liu F, Wollstein A, Hysi PG, et al. Digital quantification of human eye color highlights genetic association of three new loci. *PLoS Genet*. May 2010;6(5):e1000934.
- **12.** Gershon ES, Alliey-Rodriguez N, Liu C. After GWAS: searching for genetic risk for schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. *Am J Psychiatry*. Mar 2011;168(3):253-256.
- **13.** Liang P, Song F, Ghosh S, et al. Genome-wide survey reveals dynamic widespread tissue-specific changes in DNA methylation during development. *BMC Genomics*. 2011;12(1):231.
- **14.** Senner CE. The role of DNA methylation in mammalian development. *Reprod Biomed Online*. Jun 2011;22(6):529-535.
- **15.** Fraga MF, Ballestar E, Paz MF, et al. Epigenetic differences arise during the lifetime of monozygotic twins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. Jul 26 2005;102(30):10604-10609.

- **16.** Calvanese V, Lara E, Kahn A, Fraga MF. The role of epigenetics in aging and age-related diseases. *Ageing Res Rev.* Oct 2009;8(4):268-276.
- **17.** Rakyan VK, Beyan H, Down TA, et al. Identification of type 1 diabetesassociated DNA methylation variable positions that precede disease diagnosis. *PLoS Genet.* Sep 2011;7(9):e1002300.
- **18.** Michaelson-Cohen R, Keshet I, Straussman R, Hecht M, Cedar H, Beller U. Genome-wide de novo methylation in epithelial ovarian cancer. *Int J Gynecol Cancer*. Feb 2011;21(2):269-279.
- **19.** van der Ploeg LH, Flavell RA. DNA methylation in the human gamma delta betaglobin locus in erythroid and nonerythroid tissues. *Cell.* Apr 1980;19(4):947-958.
- **20.** Kawai J, Hirotsune S, Hirose K, Fushiki S, Watanabe S, Hayashizaki Y. Methylation profiles of genomic DNA of mouse developmental brain detected by restriction landmark genomic scanning (RLGS) method. *Nucleic Acids Res.* Dec 11 1993;21(24):5604-5608.
- **21.** Ghosh S, Yates AJ, Fruhwald MC, Miecznikowski JC, Plass C, Smiraglia D. Tissue specific DNA methylation of CpG islands in normal human adult somatic tissues distinguishes neural from non-neural tissues. *Epigenetics*. Aug 16 2010;5(6):527-538.
- 22. Keshet I, Schlesinger Y, Farkash S, et al. Evidence for an instructive mechanism of de novo methylation in cancer cells. *Nat Genet*. Feb 2006;38(2):149-153.
- **23.** Weber M, Davies JJ, Wittig D, et al. Chromosome-wide and promoter-specific analyses identify sites of differential DNA methylation in normal and transformed human cells. *Nat Genet.* Aug 2005;37(8):853-862.
- 24. Butcher LM, Beck S. AutoMeDIP-seq: a high-throughput, whole genome, DNA methylation assay. *Methods*. Nov 2010;52(3):223-231.
- **25.** Bibikova M, Fan JB. GoldenGate assay for DNA methylation profiling. *Methods Mol Biol.* 2009;507:149-163.
- **26.** Breitling LP, Yang R, Korn B, Burwinkel B, Brenner H. Tobacco-smoking-related differential DNA methylation: 27K discovery and replication. *Am J Hum Genet.* Apr 8 2011;88(4):450-457.
- **27.** Hill VK, Ricketts C, Bieche I, et al. Genome-wide DNA methylation profiling of CpG islands in breast cancer identifies novel genes associated with tumorigenicity. *Cancer Res.* Apr 15 2011;71(8):2988-2999.
- **28.** Bell CG, Teschendorff AE, Rakyan VK, Maxwell AP, Beck S, Savage DA. Genome-wide DNA methylation analysis for diabetic nephropathy in type 1 diabetes mellitus. *BMC Med Genomics*. 2010;3:33.
- **29.** Bolstad BM, Irizarry RA, Astrand M, Speed TP. A comparison of normalization methods for high density oligonucleotide array data based on variance and bias. *Bioinformatics*. Jan 22 2003;19(2):185-193.
- **30.** Xing J, Watkins WS, Witherspoon DJ, et al. Fine-scaled human genetic structure revealed by SNP microarrays. *Genome Res.* May 2009;19(5):815-825.
- **31.** Jakobsson M, Scholz SW, Scheet P, et al. Genotype, haplotype and copy-number variation in worldwide human populations. *Nature*. Feb 21 2008;451(7181):998-1003.
- **32.** Eckhardt F, Lewin J, Cortese R, et al. DNA methylation profiling of human chromosomes 6, 20 and 22. *Nat Genet.* Dec 2006;38(12):1378-1385.

- **33.** Zhang FF, Cardarelli R, Carroll J, et al. Significant differences in global genomic DNA methylation by gender and race/ethnicity in peripheral blood. *Epigenetics*. May 2011;6(5):623-629.
- **34.** Oken E, Kleinman KP, Rich-Edwards J, Gillman MW. A nearly continuous measure of birth weight for gestational age using a United States national reference. *BMC Pediatr.* Jul 8 2003;3:6.
- **35.** Patel RR, Steer P, Doyle P, Little MP, Elliott P. Does gestation vary by ethnic group? A London-based study of over 122,000 pregnancies with spontaneous onset of labour. *Int J Epidemiol.* Feb 2004;33(1):107-113.
- **36.** Storey J. A direct approach to false discovery rates. *J Royal Stat Society: Series B.* 2002;64:479-498.

# Chapter 3

# DNA Methylation of Neonates Born to Women Receiving Psychiatric Care

Information presented in this chapter is currently under review as cited below: JW Schroeder, AK Smith, PA Brennan, KN Conneely, V Kilaru, BT Knight, DJ Newport, JC Cubells, ZN Stowe. DNA Methylation of Neonates Born to Women Receiving Psychiatric Care. Submitted to Epigenetics.

## Introduction

Major depressive disorder is nearly twice as prevalent in women as it is in men and affects up to 12.8% of women during pregnancy.<sup>1</sup> Depressive symptoms do not abate during pregnancy, and children of depressed women are more likely to deliver prematurely and develop social and emotional problems as they develop.<sup>2-6</sup> Likewise, the children of women taking antidepressants during pregnancy have an increased risk of fetal cardiac defects and neurological development issues<sup>7-9</sup>, though some studies have suggested that these risks are not significant or are comparable to risks resulting from untreated depression.<sup>10,11</sup>

Prenatal exposure to psychotropic medications, psychiatric illness, or the combination of the two could influence offspring outcomes through changes in DNA methylation at CpG dinucleotides. Human and animal studies report links between prenatal or early life stress and differential DNA methylation of the *NR3C1* promoter.<sup>12</sup> In one such study, umbilical cord blood DNA methylation of *NR3C1* was associated with maternal mood during pregnancy, but not with SSRI exposure .<sup>13</sup> Similarly, another study by this group reported that neonates born to women depressed during the second trimester have significant methylation differences in the serotonin transporter (*SLC6A4*), though differential methylation of this gene did not associate with SSRI exposure or maternal depression in the third trimester.<sup>14</sup>

It is important to delineate the potential effects of psychiatric illness and symptoms from treatment on developing fetuses. Previous efforts in this regard have been limited to selected candidate genes. In this study, we examined the methylation patterns of >27,000 CpG sites across the genome in umbilical cord blood-derived DNA from the offspring of women undergoing treatment for a mood disorder during the perinatal period.

## Methods

#### Subject Enrollment

Subjects were recruited from the Specialized Center of Research for Sex and Gender Effects (SCOR) or the Translational Research Center for Behavioral Sciences (TRCBS) at Emory's Women's Mental Health Program (WMHP), a referral center for the treatment of perinatal psychiatric illness. Mothers were evaluated prospectively at 4-6 week intervals with serial measures of psychiatric symptoms and pharmacologic exposures throughout pregnancy.

The maternal inclusion criteria for this study included: 1) >17 years of age; 2) written and verbal fluency in English; 3) a live singleton delivery; 4) availability of DNA from umbilical cord blood collected at delivery; and 5) lifetime diagnosis of a mood disorder. Exclusion criteria included: 1) unstable non-psychiatric medical illnesses requiring pharmacological treatment during pregnancy (e.g. asthma, autoimmune disorders); 2) abnormal thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH); or 3) use of lithium, stimulants, antiepileptic, or migraine medications.

A total of 201 Caucasian and African-American neonates were included in this study (Table 3-1). Antidepressants were categorized by mechanism of action. Class 1 included selective serotonin re-uptake inhibitors (SSRIs), serotonin–norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs), and tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs), that act primarily through serotonergic pathways while Class 2 consisted of buproprion, which acts through non-serotonergic pathways.<sup>15-17</sup> A Structured Clinical Interview for Diagnosis (SCID) was used to assess lifetime diagnosis according to DSM-IV criteria, and the SCID Mood Module was used to assess major depressive episodes at each visit during pregnancy.<sup>18</sup> No subject met criteria for a manic episode during pregnancy according to the SCID Mood Module. Depressive symptoms were assessed using the 17-item Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression (HRSD17)<sup>19</sup> and the Beck Depressive Inventory (BDI).<sup>20</sup>

All mothers provided written informed consent prior to study enrollment and the Institutional Review Board of Emory approved all procedures. This study was conducted in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration of 1975.

### Sample Collection and DNA Methylation Analysis

Collection and processing of umbilical cord blood samples has been described previously in detail in Chapter 2. Briefly, umbilical cord blood was collected at birth, stored on ice, and processed within 2 hours of delivery. DNA was extracted from the cellular fraction at the Emory Biomarker Service Center. One microgram of genomic DNA was bisulfite-converted using a Zymo EZ DNA Methylation-Gold kit (Zymo Research, Orange, CA) and interrogated using the HumanMethylation27 BeadChip (Illumina, San Diego, CA). A single female genomic DNA sample was run on each BeadChip as a technical control. Three samples with probe detection call rates <90% or with an average intensity value of either <50% of the experiment-wide sample mean or <2000 arbitrary units (AU) were excluded from the analysis. We normalized the signal data to adjust for technical variability between samples by utilizing the information from sixteen negative control probes that are included on the Illumina BeadChip and are designed to detect a true methylated and unmethylated signal at zero. The signals from methylated (*M*) and unmethylated (*U*) bead types were then used to determine a  $\beta$  value, calculated as  $\beta = M/(U+M)$ , or the proportion of DNA methylated at a particular CpG site.

# Statistical Analysis

All analyses used a logit-transformed  $\beta$  value equal to  $\log\left(\frac{\beta}{1-\beta}\right)$ . The

associations between this function of  $\beta$ , the proportion of DNA methylated, and each maternal diagnosis, symptom, or exposure were evaluated by fitting a separate linear mixed effects model for each CpG site.  $\log\left(\frac{\beta}{1-\beta}\right)$  for each CpG site was then modeled as a function of the measures of maternal treatment exposure, psychiatric diagnosis, or symptoms.

Dichotomous variables examined included: prenatal exposure to any antidepressant or to specific antidepressant categories (Class 1 or Class 2); exposure to atypical antipsychotics, benzodiazepines, antiemetics, and hypnotics (each analyzed independently); lifetime and current principal diagnosis of major depressive disorder or bipolar disorder. Continuous variables examined included: the number of weeks of exposure to these antidepressant variables - both across the entire pregnancy and separately by trimester, and measures of depressive symptoms (HRSD17 and BDI). Additionally, depressive symptoms were dichotomized based on the maximum maternal score at any point pregnancy such that clinically-significant symptoms were present if a subject scored >15 on the HRSD17 or >10 on the BDI. For each analysis, neonatal sex, race, and gestational age were included as covariates because they have been shown to exert independent effects on methylation patterns in this and other studies.<sup>21-24</sup> Random effects for chips were included in the model to allow for chip-to-chip differences in measurement of the proportion of DNA methylated. To account for the 27,578 tests performed for each diagnosis or exposure, the false discovery rate (FDR) was controlled using the method of Storey et al. at .05.<sup>25</sup> For CpG sites in two genes previously reported to be differentially methylated with maternal mood, we also considered nominal p-values ( $\alpha$ =.05).

# Power Calculations

Power was calculated using Quanto (http://hydra.usc.edu/gxe/ ) to assess whether a lack of significant differences is likely due to insufficient sample size vs. an absence of differential methylation. For analyses of 201 individuals, there was >80% power to detect between-group methylation differences with an  $R^2$ >.145 after correction for 27,578 tests. For comparison with two genes previously reported to be differentially methylated with maternal mood, nominal p-values were also considered. For these analyses there was >80% power to detect differences with  $R^2$ >.038, >90% power to detect differences with  $R^2$ >.051, and >99% power to detect differences with  $R^2$ >.088.

## Results

### Maternal Diagnosis & Symptoms

To assess the potential contribution of maternal psychiatric illness, both current and lifetime maternal diagnosis of a depressive or bipolar disorder was evaluated as well as the presence (N=86) or absence (N=115) of maternal major depressive episodes during pregnancy. No association with neonatal DNA methylation was observed at any of 27,578 CpG sites, based on a false discovery rate (FDR) cutoff of .05. Similarly, the severity of maternal depressive symptoms (HRSD17; mean=16.3; SD=5.9 and BDI; mean=17.3; SD=10.8) and the presence of clinically significant depressive symptoms (HRSD17>15 or BDI>10) at some point during pregnancy did not show an association with neonatal DNA methylation at any CpG site.

# Medication Exposure

Exposure to an antidepressant (N=151 vs. 50) was associated with differential methylation of two CpG sites (FDR<.05). Methylation of a CpG site, cg22464186, in tumor necrosis factor receptor subfamily 21 (*TNFRSF21*) was decreased in the umbilical cord blood DNA of neonates exposed to antidepressants (mean=7.9% (SE=0.14%) vs. 9.8% (0.42%); p= $2.8 \times 10^{-6}$ ; Figure 3-1A) while methylation of a CpG site, cg02953306, in cholinergic receptor, nicotinic, alpha 2 (*CHRNA2*) was increased (32% (0.36%) vs. 29% (0.60%); p= $3.1 \times 10^{-6}$ ; Figure 3-1B). These results did not appear to be specific to either Class 1 (i.e. SSRIs, SNRIs, and TCAs; N=132) or Class 2 (bupropion; N=40) antidepressants. They likewise did not appear to be influenced by the number of weeks of exposure (mean=24.1; SD=17.4) or the timing of exposure.

Exposure to neurotropic medications taken concurrently with antidepressants was independently evaluated, but there was no association between any CpG site and exposure or duration of exposure to hypnotics (N=31), antiemetics (N=41) or benzodiazepines (N=39). Methylation of a CpG site, cg23034818, in BTB (POZ) domain

containing 6 (*BTBD6*), was associated with exposure to an atypical antipsychotic (N=32), but this association did not remain upon removal of a single influential outlier.

#### Discussion

Using a genome-wide approach, we observed no association between neonatal umbilical cord blood DNA methylation and maternal psychiatric diagnosis or clinicallysignificant depressive symptoms. This finding was somewhat unexpected since previous studies have reported an association between maternal prenatal mood and umbilical cord blood methylation of glucocorticoid receptor (*NR3C1*) and serotonin transporter (*SLC6A4*).<sup>13,14</sup> We observed no association between neonatal methylation of any CpG site and maternal diagnosis or depressive symptom scales after accounting for multiple comparisons, nor did we observe even a nominal association of a CpG site in NR3C1 or SLC6A4 with any outcome. This disparity may reflect the limitations of candidate gene studies, as the magnitude of the effect sizes in the initial studies would not meet the significance criteria of this study following adjustment for multiple testing. Negative results can occur due to insufficient power; however, our analysis had >80% power to detect group differences explaining >14.5% of variation in methylation at a single CpG site even after applying the conservative Bonferroni correction. Although it is possible that we did not detect subtler effects due to limited power, we were generally wellpowered to detect larger effects. Moreover, when we considered nominal p-values we had >80% power to detect differences explaining >3.8% of variation, >90% power to detect differences explaining >5.1% of variation, and >99% power to detect differences explaining >8.8% of variation in methylation in a single CpG site. Thus, we would have

had 90-99% power to identify an association with *NR3C1* or *SLC64* as strong as those previously reported (semipartial  $R^2$  ranged from .05-.11).<sup>13,14</sup>

Our sample was also restricted to women with a lifetime history of a mood disorder diagnosis, which may have resulted in a more restricted range of depressive symptoms experienced during pregnancy. Nevertheless, this study failed to replicate the initial findings that clinically-significant maternal mood state in pregnancy is associated with DNA methylation changes in cord blood. This suggests that the previously observed association between maternal psychiatric illness and adverse offspring outcomes may be due to genetic variants that remain undiscovered or to environmental or behavioral factors that do not correspond with DNA methylation changes present at birth.

Prenatal exposure to an antidepressant was associated with differential methylation of CpG sites in *TNFRSF21* and *CHRNA2*. TNFRSF21, also known as death receptor 6 (DR6), is expressed in both developing neurons<sup>26,27</sup> and developing lymphocytes.<sup>28,29</sup> Because of its role in refinement of neuronal connections during development, <sup>26,27,30</sup> alterations in TNFRSF21 expression impact learning and memory as well as emotional responses to stressful events.<sup>31</sup> *CHRNA2* is a broadly expressed subunit of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors.<sup>32</sup> In addition to its role in nicotine dependence and neurocognitive functioning,<sup>33,34</sup> *CHRNA2* is located in a region of chromosome 8p that is suggested to contribute to psychiatric and neurodegenerative disorders.<sup>35</sup> Though these results are statistically significant, given the small magnitude of methylation differences between those exposed to AD and those that were not in both of these CpG sites (Figure 3-1), they may not be biologically significant. It is questionable whether the magnitude of methylation change observed in both of these

analyses is sufficient to reflect a substantial change in the regulation of *TNFRSF21* and *CHRNA2* expression. In addition, it is possible that these results are false positives since these results satisfy the false discovery rate threshold for significance but not the more conservative criteria for Bonferroni significance ( $p \le 1.81 \times 10^{-6}$ ). As such, these results should be interpreted with caution pending replication or focused studies in relevant animal models.

A potential limitation to this study is the fact that the DNA was extracted from whole umbilical cord blood, and may not reflect changes in other relevant tissues within the neonatal central nervous system. However, both stress-responsive factors such as cortisol and the medications examined in this study cross the placental barrier and are detectable in umbilical cord blood <sup>17,36,37</sup>. The study is strengthened by the rich, prospective characterization of the course of psychiatric illness and treatment as well as other environmental exposures throughout pregnancy.

Delineation of the influence of maternal psychiatric illness and treatment on developing fetuses is vital for informing clinical care decisions of pregnant women. The results of this study suggest that there are no large effects of maternal psychiatric illness or depressive symptoms on neonatal DNA methylation though we cannot rule out subtle effects. The potential role of antidepressant exposure on neonatal methylation of *TNFRSF21* and *CHRNA2*, as well as the role of these genes on long-term behavior and neurocognitive development, warrant further attention, though, as it was noted, these effects are quite subtle.

<b>Demographics</b> N (%)			
	Total <b>N=201</b>		
Sex			
Male	100 (49.8)		
Female	101 (50.2)		
Child Race			
Caucasian	183 (91)		
African-American	18 (9)		
Medications			
No Antidepressants	50 (24.9)		
All Antidepressants	151 (75.1)		
Class 1 (SSRIs)	132(65.7)		
Class 2 (Bupropion)	40 (19.9)		
Atypical Antipsychotics	32 (15.9)		
Hypnotics	31 (15.4)		
Benzodiazepines	39 (19.4)		
Antiemetics	41 (20.4)		
Diagnosis and Symptoms			
Lifetime MDD	146 (72.6)		
Current MDD	118 (58.7)		
Lifetime BPD	55 (27.4)		
Current BPD	50 (24.9)		
Other Current Diagnoses	33 (16.4)		
Major Depressive Episode	86 (42.8)		
Maximum Prenatal HRSD17	178		
<15	69 (38.8)		
≥15	109 (61.2)		
Maximum Prenatal BDI	179		
<10	54 (30.2)		
$\geq 10$	125 (69.8)		

Table 3-1. Demographic and clinical characteristics of the WMHP subjects.

\*Patient data was not available for all measures including 18 missing for Class 2 antidepressants and benzodiazepine, 20 for atypical antipsychotics and antiemetics, 16 for hypnotics, 23 for HRSD17, and 22 for BDI. The following abbreviations were used: major depressive disorder (MDD), all bipolar disorders (BPD), bipolar disorder 1 (BP1), bipolar disorder 2 (BP2) and bipolar – other (BPO). Other current diagnoses included schizophrenia (1), substance abuse (2), anxiety (29), and binge eating (1). Lifetime BPD includes BP1 (78.2%), BP2 (12.7%) and BPO (9.1%), and current BPD has similar proportions.

**Figure 3-1**. Methylation of significant CpG sites. Methylation levels for probes: A) cg22464186 (*TNFRSF21*) and B) cg02953306 (*CHRNA2*) associate with exposure to any antidepressant.



# References

- 1. Bennett HA, Einarson A, Taddio A, Koren G, Einarson TR. Prevalence of depression during pregnancy: systematic review. *Obstet Gynecol*. Apr 2004;103(4):698-709.
- 2. Jones NA, Field T, Fox NA, Davalos M, Lundy B, Hart S. Newborns of depressed mothers are physiologically less developed. *Infant Behavior and Development*. 1998;21:537-541.
- **3.** Zuckerman B, Bauchner H, Parker S, Cabral H. Maternal depressive symptoms during pregnancy, and newborn irritability. *J Dev Behav Pediatr*. Aug 1990;11(4):190-194.
- **4.** Beydoun H, Saftlas AF. Physical and mental health outcomes of prenatal maternal stress in human and animal studies: a review of recent evidence. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol.* Sep 2008;22(5):438-466.
- **5.** Wadhwa PD, Culhane JF, Rauh V, et al. Stress, infection and preterm birth: a biobehavioural perspective. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol*. Jul 2001;15 Suppl 2:17-29.
- 6. Silberg JL, Maes H, Eaves LJ. Genetic and environmental influences on the transmission of parental depression to children's depression and conduct disturbance: an extended Children of Twins study. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*. Jun 2010;51(6):734-744.
- 7. Cole JA, Modell JG, Haight BR, Cosmatos IS, Stoler JM, Walker AM. Bupropion in pregnancy and the prevalence of congenital malformations. *Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf.* May 2007;16(5):474-484.
- 8. Galbally M, Lewis AJ, Buist A. Developmental outcomes of children exposed to antidepressants in pregnancy. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry*. May 2011;45(5):393-399.
- **9.** Casper RC, Fleisher BE, Lee-Ancajas JC, et al. Follow-up of children of depressed mothers exposed or not exposed to antidepressant drugs during pregnancy. *J Pediatr*. Apr 2003;142(4):402-408.
- **10.** Lorenzo L, Byers B, Einarson A. Antidepressant use in pregnancy. *Expert Opin Drug Saf.* May 5 2011.
- **11.** Henry AL, Beach AJ, Stowe ZN, Newport DJ. The fetus and maternal depression: implications for antenatal treatment guidelines. *Clin Obstet Gynecol.* Sep 2004;47(3):535-546.
- **12.** Zhang TY, Meaney MJ. Epigenetics and the environmental regulation of the genome and its function. *Annu Rev Psychol.* 2010;61:439-466, C431-433.
- **13.** Oberlander TF, Weinberg J, Papsdorf M, Grunau R, Misri S, Devlin AM. Prenatal exposure to maternal depression, neonatal methylation of human glucocorticoid receptor gene (NR3C1) and infant cortisol stress responses. *Epigenetics*. Mar-Apr 2008;3(2):97-106.
- **14.** Devlin AM, Brain U, Austin J, Oberlander TF. Prenatal exposure to maternal depressed mood and the MTHFR C677T variant affect SLC6A4 methylation in infants at birth. *PLoS One.* 2010;5(8):e12201.
- **15.** Terry P, Katz JL. Dopaminergic mediation of the discriminative stimulus effects of bupropion in rats. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*. Nov 1997;134(2):201-212.

- Learned-Coughlin SM, Bergstrom M, Savitcheva I, Ascher J, Schmith VD, Langstrom B. In vivo activity of bupropion at the human dopamine transporter as measured by positron emission tomography. *Biol Psychiatry*. Oct 15 2003;54(8):800-805.
- **17.** Capello CF, Bourke CH, Ritchie JC, et al. Serotonin transporter occupancy in rats exposed to serotonin reuptake inhibitors in utero or via breast milk. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* Jul 20 2011.
- **18.** First MB, Spitzer RL, M. G, W. WJB. *Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV-TR Axis I disorders, Research Version, Patient Edition (SCID-I/P).* New York: New York State Psychiatric Institute; 2002.
- **19.** Hamilton M. A rating scale for depression. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. Feb 1960;23:56-62.
- **20.** Beck AT, Ward CH, Mendelson M, Mock J, Erbaugh J. An inventory for measuring depression. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. Jun 1961;4:561-571.
- **21.** Adkins RM, Krushkal J, Tylavsky FA, Thomas F. Racial differences in genespecific DNA methylation levels are present at birth. *Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol.* Feb 9 2011.
- **22.** Liu J, Hutchison K, Perrone-Bizzozero N, Morgan M, Sui J, Calhoun V. Identification of genetic and epigenetic marks involved in population structure. *PLoS One.* 2010;5(10):e13209.
- **23.** Christensen BC, Houseman EA, Marsit CJ, et al. Aging and environmental exposures alter tissue-specific DNA methylation dependent upon CpG island context. *PLoS Genet.* Aug 2009;5(8):e1000602.
- **24.** Bjornsson HT, Sigurdsson MI, Fallin MD, et al. Intra-individual change over time in DNA methylation with familial clustering. *JAMA*. Jun 25 2008;299(24):2877-2883.
- **25.** Storey J. A direct approach to false discovery rates. *J Royal Stat Society: Series B*, 2002;64:479-498.
- **26.** Pan G, Bauer JH, Haridas V, et al. Identification and functional characterization of DR6, a novel death domain-containing TNF receptor. *FEBS Lett.* Jul 24 1998;431(3):351-356.
- 27. Nikolaev A, McLaughlin T, O'Leary DD, Tessier-Lavigne M. APP binds DR6 to trigger axon pruning and neuron death via distinct caspases. *Nature*. Feb 19 2009;457(7232):981-989.
- **28.** Zhao H, Yan M, Wang H, Erickson S, Grewal IS, Dixit VM. Impaired c-Jun amino terminal kinase activity and T cell differentiation in death receptor 6-deficient mice. *J Exp Med.* Nov 19 2001;194(10):1441-1448.
- **29.** Schmidt CS, Liu J, Zhang T, et al. Enhanced B cell expansion, survival, and humoral responses by targeting death receptor 6. *J Exp Med.* Jan 6 2003;197(1):51-62.
- **30.** Nicholson DW. Neuroscience: Good and bad cell death. *Nature*. Feb 19 2009;457(7232):970-971.
- **31.** Chambers RA, Potenza MN, Hoffman RE, Miranker W. Simulated apoptosis/neurogenesis regulates learning and memory capabilities of adaptive neural networks. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. Apr 2004;29(4):747-758.
- **32.** Bonati MT, Combi R, Asselta R, et al. Exclusion of linkage of nine neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunit genes expressed in brain in autosomal dominant nocturnal frontal lobe epilepsy in four unrelated families. *J Neurol*. Aug 2002;249(8):967-974.
- **33.** Philibert RA, Todorov A, Andersen A, et al. Examination of the nicotine dependence (NICSNP) consortium findings in the Iowa adoption studies population. *Nicotine Tob Res.* Mar 2009;11(3):286-292.
- **34.** Rigbi A, Kanyas K, Yakir A, et al. Why do young women smoke? V. Role of direct and interactive effects of nicotinic cholinergic receptor gene variation on neurocognitive function. *Genes Brain Behav.* Mar 2008;7(2):164-172.
- **35.** Tabares-Seisdedos R, Rubenstein JL. Chromosome 8p as a potential hub for developmental neuropsychiatric disorders: implications for schizophrenia, autism and cancer. *Mol Psychiatry*. Jun 2009;14(6):563-589.
- **36.** Hendrick V, Stowe ZN, Altshuler LL, Hwang S, Lee E, Haynes D. Placental passage of antidepressant medications. *Am J Psychiatry*. May 2003;160(5):993-996.
- **37.** Smith AK, Jeffrey Newport D, Ashe MP, et al. Predictors of Neonatal Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal Axis Activity at Delivery. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*. Feb 1 2011.

# Chapter 4

# Neonatal DNA Methylation Patterns Associate with Gestational Age

Information presented in this chapter is currently accepted for publication as cited below:

JW Schroeder, KN Conneely, JC Cubells, V Kilaru, DJ Newport, BT Knight, ZN Stowe,

PA Brennan, J Krushkal, FA Tylavsky, RN Taylor, RM Adkins, AK Smith. Neonatal

DNA Methylation Patterns Associate with Gestational Age. Epigenetics 2011; 6. In press.

## Introduction

The majority of deliveries in the United States occurs between 37 and 42 weeks gestational age (GA) and are classified as term deliveries. Whereas there is uniform agreement that preterm delivery (GA <37 weeks) associates with significantly higher rates of neonatal morbidity and mortality<sup>1</sup>, recent evidence also demonstrates an increased risk for adverse neonatal outcomes in term deliveries, particularly respiratory complications, with declining gestational age.<sup>2,3</sup> A higher rate of morbidity and mortality during the first year of life has been reported for neonates born at 37 or 38 weeks compared to those delivered at 40 weeks.<sup>4</sup> The importance of gestational age in determining neonatal outcome has been repeatedly emphasized and refined as reflected by the stringent American College of Obstetrics & Gynecology guidelines for elective induction.<sup>5</sup> Many reports suggest that a reduction in the rate of elective deliveries prior to 39 weeks reduces neonatal morbidity and mortality.<sup>6,7</sup>

While the mechanisms responsible for associations between GA and these adverse conditions remain unknown, an emerging body of evidence supports the role of epigenetic alterations, such as changes in DNA methylation, as molecular mediators of adverse postnatal phenotypes.<sup>8</sup> For example, evidence suggests that maternal nutrition can have dramatic effects on neonatal outcomes by altering offspring DNA methylation.<sup>9</sup>

To date most studies of neonatal DNA methylation have focused on premature or small for gestational age neonates.<sup>10-12</sup> Genome-wide DNA methylation in healthy, full-term neonates has not yet been examined. Therefore, despite reports of DNA methylation varying as adults age, <sup>13-16</sup> it remains unknown whether methylation varies as a function of GA. The current study addresses this critical gap in the literature,

examining genome-wide patterns of DNA methylation in umbilical cord blood from neonates of gestational ages ranging from 32–43 weeks, spanning the clinically significant periods of late preterm, term, and postdate pregnancies.

## Methods

## Subjects and Sample Collection

#### Discovery Cohort: Women's Mental Health Program (WMHP):

Women with a history of neuropsychiatric illnesses who participated in prospective studies through Emory's WMHP were screened for inclusion in the current study as stated previously. Mothers completed an intake questionnaire for demographic, socioeconomic, and medical and psychiatric history, were administered the Structured Clinical Interview for *DSM-IV* (SCID), and then evaluated prospectively at four to six week intervals to assess psychiatric symptoms and pharmacologic exposures throughout pregnancy.

We evaluated 259 DNA samples collected in the WMHP from neonates born to Caucasian and African-American women (Table 4-1). The inclusion criteria were: A) maternal age >17 years of age; B) maternal written and verbal fluency in English; C) a live singleton delivery; and D) availability of DNA from umbilical cord blood collected at delivery. The exclusion criteria used were described in Chapter 3.

# Replication Cohort: Conditions Affecting Neurocognitive Development & Learning in Early Childhood (CANDLE):

Neonates were selected from CANDLE, a longitudinal cohort study of human development from pregnancy to age three being performed in Shelby County, Tennessee

(Table 4-1). Solicitation for inclusion occurs by advertising in local gynecological clinics, and 1303 women and their infants have been enrolled in the study. Maternal selection criteria for this analysis included: A) maternal age 18-40 years; B) singleton pregnancy; C) availability of birth weight and maternal pre-pregnancy weight; D) absence of pregnancy complications, specifically maternal sexually-transmitted disease, maternal diabetes mellitus, oligohydramnios, preeclampsia, placental abruption, and cervical cerclage; and E) availability of DNA from umbilical cord blood collected at delivery. Additionally, to make direct comparisons with the discovery cohort, we restricted analyses to Caucasian or African-American neonates. Based on the above criteria and availability of DNA methylation data, 194 neonates were included in this study. The parents of these 194 neonates were more likely to be married or cohabitating (66.0% vs. 55.5%; p < .001), have received a high school diploma or beyond (65.9% vs.)39.8%; p<.001), and have incomes >200% of the poverty level (53.8% vs. 43.7%; p<.01) when compared to the overall CANDLE cohort. The neonates were also less likely to be African American (56.7% vs. 67.7%; p<.01) and had a higher gestational age on average (39.0 vs. 38.7 weeks, p=.03).

All mothers provided written informed consent prior to study enrollment following procedures approved by the Institutional Review Boards of Emory University (WMHP) or University of Tennessee Health Science Center (CANDLE). This study was conducted in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration of 1975.

#### Gestational Age and Birth Weight

In the discovery cohort GA was estimated by each mother's obstetrician for all but three subjects (1.2%). For these, GA was determined by the time in weeks between the mother's last menstrual period (LMP) and delivery. Cook's distance was calculated to confirm that these 3 subjects did not influence the association between CpG sites and GA (Figure 4-3). In the replication cohort, a combination of obstetrician report (60%) or LMP (40%) was used to estimate GA. Birth weight in kilograms was assessed at delivery and extracted from the medical records of both cohorts.

#### DNA Extraction and Methylation Analysis

WHMP (discovery cohort) umbilical cord blood samples were collected and DNA extracted as stated above. For the CANDLE study (replication cohort), whole umbilical cord blood samples were stored at  $4^{0}$ C and processed within 24 hours of delivery. DNA was isolated using a Maxwell 16 (Promega Corp.) automated nucleic acids extractor. The resulting DNA was processed and run on the HumanMethylation27 BeadChips (Illumina) from which  $\beta$  values were obtained as discussed previously.

#### Statistical Analysis

#### **Discovery Cohort**

As stated previously, all analyses were based on linear models with  $\log\left(\frac{\beta}{1-\beta}\right)$  as the outcome and GA as the independent variable. In addition to the covariates discussed in Chapter 2, the gestational age analyses were also adjusted for parity, percentile birth weight with respect to GA and sex, maternal hypertension (chronic, pregnancy-induced, and/or preeclampsia), and experiment. In the discovery cohort, the correlation between percentile birth weight and GA is substantially less (r=.15) than the correlation between birth weight and GA (r=.49). We also evaluated the potential effects of maternal psychiatric diagnosis and symptoms, maternal age, preconception and delivery body mass index (BMI), and method of delivery (standard and assisted vaginal delivery and planned or emergency cesarean section) as well as the area under the curve for the number of weeks of exposure to caffeine, alcohol, or tobacco on DNA methylation. None of these analyses yielded significant results and therefore these factors were not included as covariates.

Gene Ontology analysis was conducted using GeneCodis 2.0 <sup>37,38</sup> for the 39 genes that demonstrated evidence of differential methylation in the discovery cohort to evaluate if specific biological processes were enriched in the dataset. This web-based application matches gene lists with common biological feature annotations. Significance is determined by enrichment of the genes of interest in the context of the known annotations, and a hypergeometric p-value is obtained through an FDR correction.

#### **Replication Cohort**

Only the CpG sites that met experiment-wide significance in the discovery analysis were evaluated in the replication cohort. For each CpG site, we again regressed  $log\left(\frac{\beta}{1-\beta}\right)$  on GA adjusting for neonatal sex, race, parity, maternal hypertension, and percentile birth weight, as well as a random effects term to allow for potential variation between batches. Similar to the results from the discovery cohort, percentile birth weight was less correlated with GA than birth weight was with GA (r=.10 vs. r=.51). Because

this was a replication study, we performed a one-sided test ( $\alpha$ =.05) for each CpG site to test for associations between GA and methylation in the same direction as observed in the discovery cohort.

#### Results

The discovery and replication cohorts were similar in terms of the distributions of GA at delivery, birth weight percentile, and parity (Table 4-1). In contrast, the discovery cohort had a higher proportion of female neonates, Caucasian neonates, women with prenatal hypertension, and a higher mean maternal age at delivery.

Forty-one CpG sites in 39 genes met experiment-wide criteria for significant association between neonatal DNA methylation and GA in the discovery cohort (FDR<.05; Table 4-2; Figures 4-1, 4-2). Of these, 29 sites (70.7%) showed a decrease in methylation levels with increasing GA, while the remaining 12 (29.3%) showed an increase.

To further examine the potential functional significance of these results, we used gene ontology classifications to explore known biological processes for the 39 genes associated with GA (Table 4-3). Of the six biological processes implicated, three specifically involved pregnancy and development-related genes, while three involved more general cellular processes including transcriptional regulation, cell adhesion, and signal transduction.

We sought to replicate our initial findings from the discovery cohort in an independent replication cohort. Of the 41 CpG sites examined in the replication cohort, 26 sites in 25 genes were also associated with GA ( $1.6 \times 10^{-6} \le p < .05$ ; Table 4-2). Among

these, we observed differential methylation of *AVP*, *OXT*, *CRHBP*, *CASP8* and *ESR1*, which are enriched in signal transduction and response to estradiol stimulus (Table 4-3).

It is not clear to what extent the onset of labor may have influenced these results. Therefore, we compared those born by spontaneous vaginal deliveries to those born by cesarean sections or induced vaginal deliveries in both cohorts. After comparing spontaneous to induced delivery types in an interaction analysis (data not shown), there was no evidence that the association between GA and methylation differed by delivery type (FDR<.05) for the 41 CpG sites differentially methylated in the discovery cohort. Also, there were no nominally significant differences (p<.05) consistent between the discovery and replication cohorts.

## Discussion

Using a genome-wide approach with replication in an independent cohort, we provide evidence for an association between GA at delivery and the differential methylation of CpG sites in 25 genes. Interestingly, several genes exhibiting GA-associated differences in methylation encode proteins that play putative roles in the timing of delivery or as regulators of postnatal outcomes known to associate with differences in GA.

Notably, we observed decreased methylation of the paralogs arginine vasopressin (AVP) and oxytocin (OXT). Maternal AVP and OXT impact the timing of delivery through the regulation of uterine contractions.<sup>17</sup> Estrogen has a pivotal role in the regulation of both AVP and OXT by altering DNA methylation in the promoter regions of *AVP* and *OXT*.<sup>18, 19</sup> Peripherally, AVP regulates renal water excretion and hemostasis,

in part through regulating von Willebrand factor (vWF) activity, and <sup>20</sup> we observed differential methylation of CpG sites in glycoprotein IX (*GP9*), a component of the vWF receptor.<sup>21</sup>

We also observed a decrease in the methylation of corticotropin releasing hormone binding protein (*CRHBP*). Maternal corticotropin releasing hormone (*CRH*) increases consistently throughout pregnancy but is neutralized by the binding of CRHBP,<sup>22</sup> which is released from the placenta.<sup>23</sup> CRHBP decreases dramatically towards the end of the third trimester releasing CRH prior to the onset of parturition.<sup>24</sup>

We observed increased methylation of estrogen receptor 1 *(ESR1)*, which is largely increases prior to labor,<sup>25, 26</sup> although ESR1 decreases in the lower uterine segment as labor progresses.<sup>27</sup> Estrogen in umbilical cord blood positively correlates with birth weight,<sup>28</sup> and neonates in both the discovery and replication cohorts were, on average, below the 50<sup>th</sup> percentile for gestational age-corrected birth weight. ESR1 is activated by solute carrier family 30, member 9 *(SLC30A9* a.k.a. *GAC63)*,<sup>29</sup> which is also differentially methylated in this study.

These results also reveal differential methylation of genes that have not previously been implicated in timing of labor and delivery but could contribute to the immunoendocrine axis and the development of health problems later in life. We observed differential methylation of CpG sites in genes that play a role in thyroid hormone synthesis (dual oxidase 2; *DUOX2*),<sup>30</sup> immune cell maturation (transmembrane protein 176A; *TMEM176A*),<sup>31</sup> and apoptosis (caspase 8; *CASP8*).<sup>32</sup> We hypothesize that fetal or neonatal DNA methylation of these genes may contribute to long-term developmental outcomes, but further study is needed to address the stability of DNA methylation changes during subsequent developmental periods and in adulthood.

Several of the CpG sites differentially methylated in the discovery cohort did not replicate. Potential explanations for this include: 1) the initial associations in the discovery cohort were unreliable; 2) methylation patterns of some genes may be unique to the offspring of cohorts with neuropsychiatric illnesses; 3) differences in the umbilical cord blood processing procedures between the cohorts (<2 hours vs. <24 hours) may lead to differences in DNA quality and 4) methods to calculate GA may vary. Because maternal stress or medication use may increase the risk of preterm delivery.<sup>33,34</sup> it is unclear to what degree the observed methylation differences between findings in the discovery and replication samples reflect differences in maternal neuropsychiatric status or treatment. While the potential effects of maternal stress and medication warrant investigation, the replication of these findings in a distinct replication cohort provide further support for their association with GA. In the discovery cohort GA was estimated largely using obstetrician reports, which are primarily supported by an ultrasound, where GA at delivery in the replication cohort was estimated predominately using LMP. While gestational age determined by ultrasound correlates well with LMP, it can vary by some maternal and infant characteristics such as maternal age or low birth weight.<sup>35</sup> In the discovery cohort, we evaluated the correlation between GA determined by obstetrician report and LMP (r=.68) and found that the estimates differed by 3.6 days on average. These subtle variations in gestational age estimates may have influenced the number of replicated findings.

This study was also limited by reliance on DNA extracted from whole umbilical cord blood. Thus, our results cannot be attributed to differences in specific cell lineages. It is also not clear whether the methylation changes observed reflect a causal mechanism or are merely observational. We examined the GA-associated DNA methylation patterns for the 41 original differentially methylated CpG sites in neonates born following natural labor compared to those who did not reach term because of induction of labor or a planned cesarean section and observed no differences in the relationship between GA and methylation for these delivery groups after correcting for multiple comparisons. It is unclear whether elective inductions and/or cesarean sections occurred after onset of labor. As such, future studies will be required to delineate these effects. The results of the gene ontology analysis should be interpreted with caution as the independent assumptions of the model may result in inflated test statistics. <sup>36</sup> However, as an initial examination in combination with a replication in a distinct cohort, these novel data warrant additional attention. While replication is not yet standard in large-scale studies of DNA methylation, the design of this study underscores the potential generalizability of these results.

This study suggests that DNA methylation patterns in umbilical cord blood vary continuously across a range of gestational ages. The results have broad implications warranting further investigations in preterm deliveries and the role(s) of DNA methylation in the relationship between gestational age and detrimental health outcomes. Future DNA methylation studies should include a wider range of gestational ages and incorporate longitudinal assessments of the stability of DNA methylation in neonatal and postnatal human DNA.

	Discovery Cohort N=259		Replicati	p- voluo*	
Phenotype			N=		
	N (%)	Mean <u>+</u> SD	N (%)	Mean <u>+</u> SD	value
Maternal Age		33.2 (5.2)		26.7 (5.2)	<.0001
Parity		0.9 (1.0)		1.1 (1.2)	NS
Sex					
Male	128 (49.0)		101 (52.1)		.635
Female	131 (51.0)		93 (47.9)		
Child Race					
Caucasian	232 (89.6)		84 (43.3)		<.0001
African Am.	27 (10.4)		110 (56.7)		
GA, weeks*					
<37	18 (6.9)	388(12)	12 (6.1)	20.0(1.2)	NS
37-41	240 (92.7)	38.8 (1.2)	182 (93.8)	39.0 (1.3)	IND
>42	1 (0.4)		0 (0.0)		
Birth Weight		176(272)		47 1 (26 6)	NS
Percentile		47.0 (27.2)		47.1 (20.0)	110
Hypertension	32 (12.4)		10 (5 2)		0088
During Pregnancy	32 (12.4)		10 (3.2)		.0000

**Table 4-1**. Demographic and clinical characteristics of the discovery and replication cohorts.

\* The rate of preterm delivery is higher in both the overall discovery and replication cohorts than is represented in this sample, which were selected to over-represent term deliveries.

+ NS = non-significant

**Table 4-2**. CpG sites reaching experiment-wide significance in the discovery cohortcompared to the replication cohort results.

Г

Probe	Associated Gene	Discovery t-score	Discovery p-value	Replication t-score	Replication p-value	
Decreased Me	thylation in Bo	oth Cohorts	I		I	
cg16536918	AVP	-5.39	1.9×10 <sup>-7</sup>	-3.81	9.4×10 <sup>-5</sup>	
cg06051311	TRIM15	-5.08	7.9×10 <sup>-7</sup>	-4.81	1.6×10 <sup>-6</sup>	
cg21842274	CRHBP	-4.95	1.5×10 <sup>-6</sup>	-2.36	9.7×10 <sup>-3</sup>	
cg20994801	PIK3CD	-4.57	8.3×10 <sup>-6</sup>	-1.80	.037	
cg14409083	EMP1	-4.52	$1.0 \times 10^{-5}$	-2.36	9.6×10 <sup>-3</sup>	
cg25551168	AVP	-4.52	1.0×10 <sup>-5</sup>	-4.22	2.0×10 <sup>-5</sup>	
cg13813391	CMTM2	-4.41	1.6×10 <sup>-5</sup>	-2.22	.014	
cg26267561	OXT	-4.35	2.1×10 <sup>-5</sup>	-2.38	9.1×10 <sup>-3</sup>	
cg20291222	CAPS2	-4.33	2.3×10 <sup>-5</sup>	-2.12	.018	
cg14423778	MBNL1	-4.28	2.9×10 <sup>-5</sup>	-1.81	.036	
cg22417398	SCYL1	-4.26	3.0×10 <sup>-5</sup>	-1.91	.029	
cg01143454	C20orf141	-4.22	3.6×10 <sup>-5</sup>	-4.31	1.3×10 <sup>-5</sup>	
cg09244244	KIAA0372	-4.21	3.8×10 <sup>-5</sup>	-3.09	$1.2 \times 10^{-3}$	
cg15561986	POMT2	-4.20	4.0×10 <sup>-5</sup>	-2.15	.017	
cg09523691	ATG12	-4.10	5.7×10 <sup>-5</sup>	-1.89	0.03	
cg10652277	SLC30A9	-4.03	7.7×10 <sup>-5</sup>	-2.25	.013	
cg26799474	CASP8	-4.01	8.2×10 <sup>-5</sup>	-3.45	3.46×10 <sup>-4</sup>	
cg00411097	MGC9712	-4.01	8.2×10 <sup>-5</sup>	-2.78	3.1×10 <sup>-3</sup>	
cg16301617	TMC6	-4.00	8.6×10 <sup>-5</sup>	-2.16	.016	
Decreased Methylation in Discovery Cohort Only						
cg20337106	C6orf139	-5.18	4.9×10 <sup>-7</sup>	-1.4	.081	
cg04536922	FAM13A1	-4.41	1.6×10 <sup>-5</sup>	-1.07	.14	
cg22854223	CD82	-4.42	1.6×10 <sup>-5</sup>	-1.54	.063	
cg16545105	CRHBP	-4.33	2.2×10 <sup>-5</sup>	-0.66	.25	
cg05664072	PER2	-4.33	2.3×10 <sup>-5</sup>	-0.57	.29	
cg17530977	GLI3	-4.30	2.6×10 <sup>-5</sup>	0.88	.19	
cg13393195	IQCD	-4.23	3.5×10 <sup>-5</sup>	-0.089	.47	
cg08996521	CISH	-4.12	5.3×10 <sup>-5</sup>	-0.38	.35	
cg03395898	TGFB3	-4.06	6.8×10 <sup>-5</sup>	-1.27	.1	
cg14011734	TATDN2	-3.98	9.3×10 <sup>-5</sup>	-0.02	.49	

-

Probe	Associated Gene	Discovery t-score	Discovery p-value	Replication t-score	Replication p-value	
Increased Methylation in Both Cohorts						
cg11540997	DUOX2	5.46	1.3×10 <sup>-7</sup>	2.78	3.0×10 <sup>-3</sup>	
cg16098726	GP9	5.21	4.5×10 <sup>-7</sup>	2.67	4.2×10 <sup>-3</sup>	
cg05294455	MYL4	5.16	5.4×10 <sup>-7</sup>	4.03	4.2×10 <sup>-5</sup>	
cg27210390	TOM1L1	5.02	1.1×10 <sup>-6</sup>	3.45	3.5×10 <sup>-4</sup>	
cg26385222	TMEM176A	4.86	2.3×10 <sup>-6</sup>	3.29	6.1×10 <sup>-4</sup>	
cg15626350	ESR1	4.24	3.2×10 <sup>-5</sup>	2.36	9.8×10 <sup>-3</sup>	
cg00594952	RIMS3	4.06	6.8×10 <sup>-5</sup>	3.58	$2.2 \times 10^{-4}$	
Increased Methylation in Discovery Cohort Only						
cg03098721	TTLL7	5.26	3.4×10 <sup>-7</sup>	1.06	.15	
cg01919208	LAMB2	4.19	4.1×10 <sup>-5</sup>	-0.25	.4	
cg12188416	TP73L	4.13	5.2×10 <sup>-5</sup>	0.64	.26	
cg12564962	DSCR6	4.06	7.0×10 <sup>-5</sup>	0.23	.41	
cg05726109	GP1BB	4.02	8.0×10 <sup>-5</sup>	1.21	.11	

Table 4-2. (cont).

**Table 4-3**. Co-occurring gene ontology results for the 41 experiment-wide significant

 genes in the discovery cohort. Gene names in bold associated with GA in the replication

 cohort.

Annotations	GO Term	Corrected p-value*	Genes
Inner ear development	GO:0048839	2.78 x10 <sup>-5</sup>	GLI3, TGFB3, <b>DUOX2</b>
Female pregnancy	GO:0007565	5.66x10 <sup>-4</sup>	TGFB3, CRHBP, OXT
Response to estradiol stimulus	GO:0032355	5.86x10 <sup>-4</sup>	ESR1, OXT, CASP8
Heart development	GO:0007507	.0022	CASP8, GL13, OXT
Blood coagulation & Platelet activation	GO:0007596 & GO:0030168	.0057	TGFB3, GP1BB, <b>GP9</b>
Signal transduction	GO:0007165	.0056	ESR1, FAM13A1, CRHBP, AVP, PIK3CD, OXT
DNA-dependent transcription	GO:0006351	.0076	GLI3, TP73L, <b>ESR1</b> , SLC30A9
Positive regulation of transcription	GO:0045944	.0107	TGFB3, GLI3, TP73L
<i>In utero</i> embryonic development	GO:0001701	.0027	TGFB3, GLI3, <b>MBNL1</b>
Negative regulation of transcription from RNA polymerase II promoter	GO:0000122	.013	GLI3, TP73L, PER2
Positive regulation of transcription from RNA polymerase II	GO:0045944	.022	TGFB3, GLI3, TP73L
Cell adhesion	GO:0007155	.033	GP1BB, <b>GP9</b> , LAMB2

\*p-values indicate the significance between the number of genes differentially methylated in this analysis and the total number of genes in each annotated biological process.



**Figure 4-1.** Scatterplots of representative CpG sites associated with GA with regression lines.

**Figure 4-2.** Heat map of beta values from subjects with the lowest (red; N=20) and highest (blue; N=20) gestational ages from the discovery cohort.



**Figure 4-3.** Samples in the discovery cohort that used LMP to determine GA do not significantly differ from those based on obstetrician report. The Cook's distance (vertical axis) is plotted for each sample (horizontal axis) to determine the overall contribution of each sample to the regression model.



# References

1. Goldenberg RL, Culhane JF, Iams JD, Romero R. Epidemiology and causes of preterm birth. Lancet 2008;371:75-84.

2. Clark SL, Miller DD, Belfort MA, Dildy GA, Frye DK, Meyers JA. Neonatal and maternal outcomes associated with elective term delivery. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2009;200:156 e1-4.

3. Tita AT, Landon MB, Spong CY, et al. Timing of elective repeat cesarean delivery at term and neonatal outcomes. N Engl J Med 2009;360:111-20.

4. Young PC, Glasgow TS, Li X, Guest-Warnick G, Stoddard G. Mortality of latepreterm (near-term) newborns in Utah. Pediatrics 2007;119:e659-65.

5. ACOG Practice Bulletin No. 107: Induction of labor. Obstet Gynecol 2009;114:386-97.

6. Ashton DM. Elective delivery at less than 39 weeks. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol 2010;22:506-10.

7. Oshiro BT, Henry E, Wilson J, Branch DW, Varner MW. Decreasing elective deliveries before 39 weeks of gestation in an integrated health care system. Obstet Gynecol 2009;113:804-11.

8. Wadhwa PD, Buss C, Entringer S, Swanson JM. Developmental origins of health and disease: brief history of the approach and current focus on epigenetic mechanisms. Semin Reprod Med 2009;27:358-68.

9. Symonds ME, Stephenson T, Gardner DS, Budge H. Long-term effects of nutritional programming of the embryo and fetus: mechanisms and critical windows. Reprod Fertil Dev 2007;19:53-63.

10. Tobi EW, Heijmans BT, Kremer D, et al. DNA methylation of IGF2, GNASAS, INSIGF and LEP and being born small for gestational age. Epigenetics 2011;6:171-6.

11. van der Kaay DC, Hendriks AE, Ester WA, et al. Genetic and epigenetic variability in the gene for IGFBP-3 (IGFBP3): correlation with serum IGFBP-3 levels and growth in short children born small for gestational age. Growth Horm IGF Res 2009;19:198-205.

12. Guo L, Choufani S, Ferreira J, et al. Altered gene expression and methylation of the human chromosome 11 imprinted region in small for gestational age (SGA) placentae. Dev Biol 2008;320:79-91.

13. Teschendorff AE, Menon U, Gentry-Maharaj A, et al. Age-dependent DNA methylation of genes that are suppressed in stem cells is a hallmark of cancer. Genome research 2010;20:440-6.

14. Rakyan VK, Down TA, Maslau S, et al. Human aging-associated DNA hypermethylation occurs preferentially at bivalent chromatin domains. Genome research 2010;20:434-9.

15. Christensen BC, Houseman EA, Marsit CJ, et al. Aging and environmental exposures alter tissue-specific DNA methylation dependent upon CpG island context. PLoS Genet 2009;5:e1000602.

16. Bjornsson HT, Sigurdsson MI, Fallin MD, et al. Intra-individual change over time in DNA methylation with familial clustering. JAMA 2008;299:2877-83.

17. Akerlund M. Involvement of oxytocin and vasopressin in the pathophysiology of preterm labor and primary dysmenorrhea. Prog Brain Res 2002;139:359-65.

18. Donaldson ZR, Young LJ. Oxytocin, vasopressin, and the neurogenetics of sociality. Science 2008;322:900-4.

19. Auger CJ, Coss D, Auger AP, Forbes-Lorman RM. Epigenetic control of vasopressin expression is maintained by steroid hormones in the adult male rat brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2011.

20. Kaufmann JE, Oksche A, Wollheim CB, Gunther G, Rosenthal W, Vischer UM. Vasopressin-induced von Willebrand factor secretion from endothelial cells involves V2 receptors and cAMP. J Clin Invest 2000;106:107-16.

21. Suzuki S, Morishita S. The relationship between the onset of labor mechanisms and the hemostatic system. Immunopharmacology 1999;43:133-40.

22. Behan DP, Linton EA, Lowry PJ. Isolation of the human plasma corticotrophinreleasing factor-binding protein. J Endocrinol 1989;122:23-31.

23. Petraglia F, Potter E, Cameron VA, et al. Corticotropin-releasing factor-binding protein is produced by human placenta and intrauterine tissues. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1993;77:919-24.

24. Perkins AV, Eben F, Wolfe CD, Schulte HM, Linton EA. Plasma measurements of corticotrophin-releasing hormone-binding protein in normal and abnormal human pregnancy. J Endocrinol 1993;138:149-57.

25. Smith R, Mesiano S, McGrath S. Hormone trajectories leading to human birth. Regul Pept 2002;108:159-64.

26. Mesiano S, Chan EC, Fitter JT, Kwek K, Yeo G, Smith R. Progesterone withdrawal and estrogen activation in human parturition are coordinated by progesterone receptor A expression in the myometrium. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2002;87:2924-30.

27. Winkler M, Kemp B, Classen-Linke I, et al. Estrogen receptor alpha and progesterone receptor A and B concentration and localization in the lower uterine segment in term parturition. J Soc Gynecol Investig 2002;9:226-32.

28. Nagata C, Iwasa S, Shiraki M, Shimizu H. Estrogen and alpha-fetoprotein levels in maternal and umbilical cord blood samples in relation to birth weight. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2006;15:1469-72.

29. Chen YH, Kim JH, Stallcup MR. GAC63, a GRIP1-dependent nuclear receptor coactivator. Mol Cell Biol 2005;25:5965-72.

30. De Deken X, Wang D, Dumont JE, Miot F. Characterization of ThOX proteins as components of the thyroid H(2)O(2)-generating system. Exp Cell Res 2002;273:187-96.

31. Condamine T, Le Texier L, Howie D, et al. Tmem176B and Tmem176A are associated with the immature state of dendritic cells. J Leukoc Biol 2010;88:507-15.

32. Inohara N, Koseki T, Hu Y, Chen S, Nunez G. CLARP, a death effector domaincontaining protein interacts with caspase-8 and regulates apoptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1997;94:10717-22.

33. Dole N, Savitz DA, Hertz-Picciotto I, Siega-Riz AM, McMahon MJ, Buekens P. Maternal stress and preterm birth. Am J Epidemiol 2003;157:14-24.

34. Suri R, Altshuler L, Hellemann G, Burt VK, Aquino A, Mintz J. Effects of antenatal depression and antidepressant treatment on gestational age at birth and risk of preterm birth. Am J Psychiatry 2007;164:1206-13.

35. Hoffman CS, Messer LC, Mendola P, Savitz DA, Herring AH, Hartmann KE. Comparison of gestational age at birth based on last menstrual period and ultrasound during the first trimester. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol 2008;22:587-96.

36. Goeman JJ, Buhlmann P. Analyzing gene expression data in terms of gene sets: methodological issues. Bioinformatics 2007;23:980-7.

37. Nogales-Cadenas R, Carmona-Saez P, Vazquez M, et al. GeneCodis: interpreting gene lists through enrichment analysis and integration of diverse biological information. Nucleic Acids Res 2009;37:W317-22.

38. Carmona-Saez P, Chagoyen M, Tirado F, Carazo JM, Pascual-Montano A. GENECODIS: a web-based tool for finding significant concurrent annotations in gene lists. Genome Biol 2007;8:R3.

Chapter 5

**Summary and Conclusions** 

Prenatal exposure to environmental stressors has been associated with the development of adverse neonatal and later-life conditions. It has been proposed that the associated outcomes result from a "programming" effect initiated by these prenatal exposures. An epigenetic candidate for these programming effects is differential methylation of cytosines in CpG dinucleotides. The objective of this study was to examine whether DNA methylation of a genome-wide set of CpGs from umbilical cord blood DNA associates with either child outcomes or prenatal environmental exposures in a prospectively-followed cohort of women receiving treatment for psychiatric illnesses. We hypothesized that each of the prenatal exposures and child outcomes would associate with DNA methylation both in genes previously reported with those associations and novel genes.

We began this study using the HumanMethylation27 BeadChip (Illumina) to ascertain whether DNA methylation from neonates whose mothers were being treated for psychiatric illness during pregnancy associated with maternal psychiatric diagnosis or depressive symptoms. Two previous candidate genes studies reported associations between maternal depressive symptoms and differential DNA methylation in the glucocorticoid receptor (*NR3C1*) and serotonin transporter (*SLC6A4*), two genes involved in stress-related responses. However, this study showed no associations between neonatal DNA methylation of any CpG locus interrogated and measures of maternal psychiatric diagnosis or depressive symptoms during pregnancy. Our study had >80% power to detect group differences explaining >14.5% of variation in methylation at a single CpG at a conservative Bonferroni significance level. At a significance level of p=.05, we had 90-99% power to replicate of the previous findings of the *NR3C1* and *SLC6A4* genes. We observed no evidence to suggest that maternal depressive symptoms or anti-depressant medication use during pregnancy associate with differences in methylation at either *NR3C1* or *SLC6A4*, though we could not replicate the exact CpG loci previously reported. It is worth noting here that both prior "positive" claims of association between differences in methylation at candidate genes and maternal depression or medication use were focused candidate gene studies in which modest p-values were interpreted as significant. In addition, the absolute magnitudes of the claimed differences were quite small. It is tempting to speculate that as genome-wide approaches to DNA methylation analysis continue to develop, single-locus findings will be subject to the same high degree of skepticism to which single-SNP genetic associations are subject in the context of genome-wide association results.

We next examined whether there was an association between antidepressant exposure and neonatal DNA methylation in the same cohort. Previous studies have reported adverse outcomes that were associated with antidepressant exposure, but studies examining the associations between antidepressant exposure and neonatal DNA methylation have yielded negative results. In this study, antidepressants were examined in two categories: "seratonergic" (i.e., medications that act predominantly by altering serotonergic neurotransmission, usually by antagonizing the presynaptic serotonin transporter) and "non-seratonergic" (i.e., medications thought to act by influencing norepinephrine or dopamine more than serotonin). While exposure to these two categories individually showed no association with DNA methylation, a combined analysis of both categories revealed differential methylation of CpG sites in 2 genes: tumor necrosis factor receptor subfamily 21 (*TNFRSF21*) and cholinergic receptor, nicotinic, alpha 2 (*CHRNA2*). It is noteworthy that though these two sites reached the significance threshold for false discovery rate, they did not reach significance for the more conservative Bonferroni criteria. While these two findings are of note and warrant replication and follow-up studies, our results generally did not support the hypothesis that neonatal DNA methylation would associate with antidepressant exposure.

In summary, the analyses of neonatal DNA methylation and maternal depression and treatment were generally negative, with the exceptions discussed above. As stated previously, these results suggest that possible associations between maternal depression and treatment and their respective adverse conditions later in life could be due to genetic variants that have yet to be characterized. Additionally, such outcomes could be facilitated by other epigenetic mechanisms such as histone modifications that, although they interact with DNA methylation, are nevertheless not influencing differential methylation significantly in umbilical cord blood. It could also be the case that DNA methylation at genes or CpG loci not interrogated by the HumanMethylation27 BeadChip used in this study are the vehicles for these methylation "programming" marks. This conjecture will require a more exhaustive examination of DNA methylation by another chip or method in order to be adequately tested. Finally, though our analyses were well powered to detect effects of similar size to those previously reported, differential DNA methylation with effects smaller than this threshold could theoretically exert a biologically-significant influence on gene regulation. Alternatively, effects could be larger in other relevant tissues or cell-types. Finally, small differences in methylation could increase as methylation continues to diverge after delivery to levels that later become biologically significant. In the future, this study could be duplicated using

animal models, where prenatal exposures to maternal depression-like symptoms and antidepressants could be separated, removing a perpetual complication in comparable human studies.

Finally, we tested whether there were any associations between DNA methylation and estimated gestational age. Previous studies, both genome-wide and candidate gene, have consistently reported that age associates with differential methylation. In our analysis, 41 CpG sites in 39 genes associated with gestational age. Data from an independent, community cohort of neonates replicated associations between differential methylation and gestational age in 26 of these original CpG sites from 25 genes. It is unlikely that such a high rate of replication is due to chance. Many of the genes exhibiting gestational-age-associated differential methylation are known to be involved in pregnancy and delivery, notably *AVP*, *OXT*, *CRHBP* and *ESR1*. Other genes from this group have known involvements in adverse outcomes later in life (e.g. *DUOX2*, *TMEM176A* and *CASP8*), though the children from this cohort have not been assessed for such outcomes.

Our studies provide novel insights into the associations between a genome-wide set of CpG loci and perinatal influences using umbilical cord blood DNA in a prospectively-followed cohort. A clinically-important area for future investigation is to determine whether the same genes we examined in largely term cohorts also show differential methylation in pre-term infants. The methylation trends seen in this study suggest that methylation at the implicated genes varies proportionally to gestational age, and suggest a possible continuation of increased or decreased methylation in earlier gestational ages that could contribute to phenotypes associated with prenatal births. An effort to correlate the methylation patterns seen in our gestational age analysis with maternal methylation patterns could also reveal potential readily-accessible future biomarkers for predicting gestational ages, or health outcomes associated with variation in gestational age. A parallel study in a preterm cohort could likewise produce possible biomarkers for predicting preterm births, which would be a valuable clinical tool. These data will also be of use in future prospective studies that assess the methylation patterns of genes reported here in an attempt to discern any epigenetic "programming" effects associated with prenatal stress and exposures. For example, these genes associated with gestational age suggest specific directions for follow-up studies of children in this and other prospective cohorts with regard to health conditions known to associate with gestational age, such as immunological and behavioral complications. If available, this line of research could also include post-mortem brain and other tissue samples from individuals with accessible birth records. Likewise, animal models could provide a more practical way to contribute to the characterization of future impacts of relative gestational age potentially mediated through DNA methylation at these genes.

The results of this study provide novel insights into the dynamics of neonatal DNA methylation in a genome-wide set of CpG loci from umbilical cord blood DNA, providing the largest snapshot of the influence of prenatal exposures on neonatal DNA methylation patterns to date. While the two genes found to be associated with any antidepressant exposure should be examined further, the bulk of our results concerning the influence of maternal psychiatric illness and treatment on neonatal DNA methylation were negative. This suggests that any causal influence these exposures have on later life conditions could be mediated through as yet undiscovered genetic variants or other

epigenetic mechanisms. Concerning the first scenario, it remains possible that these genetic variants underlie or are otherwise correlated with the maternal psychiatric illness because of the difficulty of disentangling the occurrence of depressive diagnosis and symptoms with antidepressant exposure (as discussed previously). Our analysis of DNA methylation and gestational age extend studies of the relationship between age and methylation to the *in utero* period. As mentioned previously, the genes found to associate with gestational age should be examined further with regards to both preterm deliveries and postnatal health outcomes. Additionally, the entire set of 27,578 loci examined here could be used in conjunction with corresponding methylation data in older cohorts to study the progression of methylation patterns across the human lifespan.